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ThE	BOARD	EsPEcIALLy	ThANks	
OUR	EMPLOyEEs	whO	hAvE	AND	
cONTINUE	TO	cONTRIBUTE	TO	ThE	
sUccEssfUL	DEvELOPMENT	Of	ThE	
cOyOTE	GOLD	PROjEcT.
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Dear sharehoLDer
On behalf of the Board of Directors, 

I present to you the Company’s 2008 

Annual Report.

During the past twelve months, the 

Company has experienced a number 

of set backs associated with the 

development of the Coyote Gold Project 

which combined with a severe downturn 

in global markets, has heavily impacted 

on the Company’s share performance.

Although the delays and cost increases 

experienced during the year have been 

disappointing, decisions have been 

made to address these issues which 

have resulted in positive results and 

trends being achieved, particularly in 

recent months.

Achievements and major changes which 

are now having a positive effect include:

•	 	The	appointment	of	Graeme	Sloan	

as the new Managing Director/CEO. 

Graeme has extensive operational 

and corporate experience.

•	 	The	appointment	of	Lee	Seng	Hui	as	a	

non-executive director. Lee Seng Hui is 

associated with the Company’s largest 

shareholder which has provided 

important funding support for the 

Company including the underwriting 

of the recently announced 

entitlements issue.

•	 	A	change	to	owner	operator	mining	

and the appointment of a new mining 

team has resulted in significant cost 

savings and improved productivity.

•	 	Construction	and	commissioning	of	a	

new accommodation village.

•	 	Construction	and	commissioning	

of new leach tanks and other plant 

modifications which have increased 

recoveries to over 97%.

•	 	Treatment	of	the	first	two	

bulk samples of underground 

development ore has achieved  

grade expectations.

The early cessation of open pit mining 

at Bald Hill coupled with cost increases 

and delays in developing the Coyote 

underground mine, has resulted in the 

Company requiring additional funding. 

To provide for this funding, the Company 

announced to ASX on 22 September 

2008, that it had arranged a fully 

underwritten, pro-rata renounceable 

entitlements issue of 2,358,926,706 

shares on the basis of two (2) shares 

for every one (1) share held at an issue 

price of 0.5 cents per share to raise 

approximately $11.79 million. As set out 

in the entitlements issue Prospectus, 

the Company has also arranged loan 

facilities totalling HK$49.5 million 

(approximately A$7.74 million) with AP 

Finance Limited, to provide additional 

funding for the Company. The funds 

raised from the entitlements issue will 

be used for the repayment of loans 

which have, or will be, used to fund the 

ongoing development and operations 

of the Coyote Gold Project, exploration 

expenditure and working capital, and 

to fund the costs of the offer and for 

ongoing working capital purposes. The 

loan facilities may continue to be used to 

fund the development of the Coyote Gold 

Project and working capital.

ChairmaN’S LETTEr
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Although the Coyote Gold Project has had 

start-up difficulties, the Board considers 

that the project still holds significant 

potential to develop into a profitable 

and expanding operation. To realise 

this potential, the Company relies on 

the dedication and commitment of our 

employees, particularly during difficult 

periods such as the past year. In this 

regard, the Board especially thanks our 

employees who have and continue to 

contribute to the successful development 

of the Coyote Gold Project.

Once the Project has been fully developed, 

it is intended that cash flow from the 

operation will fund further exploration 

at and nearby Coyote and within the 

Company’s extensive exploration portfolio 

located in the Tanami-Arunta Province 

of Central Australia aimed at achieving 

future growth.

Yours faithfully

Denis waDDeLL 
Executive Chairman



4	 TANAMI	GOLD	NL	ANNUAL	REPORT	2008

The outcome of the review, which was 

undertaken with the assistance of narrow 

vein mining specialists, resulted in the 

Company implementing a more selective 

mining method, aimed at increasing 

grade while significantly reducing the 

tonnes of waste mined.

As announced to ASX on 25 June 2008, 

the Company has moved to owner 

operator mining due to the changed 

mining method. The transition to owner 

miner is well advanced with a core  

group of miners with narrow vein mining 

experience now on site with others to be 

added as development is extended.  

To date, a significant increase in 

productivity and a reduction in costs has 

been achieved by the new mining team. 

During the next few months, the Company 

will also take delivery of more suitable 

smaller mining equipment, which will be 

progressively mobilised to site. 

Given the transition to owner miner 

and the amended mine design, the 

development of the underground mine to 

access the high grade stoping ore (+13g/t 

Au) has increased and is anticipated 

to continue to improve during the 

December 2008 and March 2009 quarters. 

rEviEw Of OpEraTiONS

COYOTE GOLD prOJECT

Decline Portal

During the year, delays in the development 

of the Coyote Gold Project (‘Project’) 

underground mine and cessation of open 

pit mining at Bald Hill, impacted on the 

Company through both cost increases and 

deferred revenue from gold production.

Due to the above, a review of the 

Company’s operating practises was 

undertaken which resulted in a number of 

significant management and operational 

changes being implemented. These 

changes have delivered positive outcomes.

Given the continuous high grade narrow 

veins evidenced in the bottom of the 

Coyote open pit and as now evidenced 

in the underground workings, the 

Company also instigated a review of 

the underground mining methods. 

4	 TANAMI	GOLD	NL	ANNUAL	REPORT	2008
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TO	DATE,	A	sIGNIfIcANT	INcREAsE	
IN	PRODUcTIvITy	AND	A	REDUcTION	
IN	cOsTs	hAs	BEEN	AchIEvED	By	
ThE	NEw	MINING	TEAM.

As the mine is developed and more of 

the orebody is exposed and treated, the 

Company will gain a better understanding 

of the orebody and mining costs. Based 

on this information, a revised production 

and financial model will be developed to 

better determine the project economics 

and the preferred mining methods. As 

mining is progressed, an underground 

diamond drilling program is planned to 

test for extensions of existing high grade 

zones of mineralisation and explore for 

new lodes.

In addition to the main Coyote 

underground operation, the Company  

is also examining the potential to access 

other open pit and underground high 

grade zones of mineralisation located  

in close proximity of the Coyote 

treatment plant.

Treatment Plant

With many of the operational issues 

now addressed and appropriate changes 

implemented, the Company looks 

forward to the Coyote Gold Project 

being developed into a successful and 

profitable operation during the next 

twelve months.

In addition to developing the Coyote 

Gold Project to full production status, the 

Company’s growth strategy is to:

•	 	Enhance	and	increase	production	at	

the Coyote Gold Project through the 

conversion of existing gold resources 

and prospects into near mine reserves; 

•	 	Pursue	intensive	and	sustained	

exploration programs aimed at 

increasing the Company’s existing 

resource inventory and production 

profile; and

•	 	Identify	and	evaluate	potential	 

project acquisitions.

All major infrastructure components are 

now complete and fully operational, with 

the new leach tanks in the treatment plant 

installed and commissioned. The new 

tanks have proven successful with gold 

recoveries of +97% from the high grade 

underground ore now being achieved. 

A new and improved accommodation 

village has also been constructed and 

commissioned which is an important 

requirement in retaining skilled workers 

in the current competitive labour market.

TANAMI	GOLD	NL	ANNUAL	REPORT	2008	 5
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ENvIRONMENTAL	MANAGEMENT	
sysTEMs	hAvE	BEEN	
IMPLEMENTED	ENsURING	A	
MINIMUM	NEGATIvE	IMPAcT	ON	ThE	
ENvIRONMENT	DUE	TO	MINING	AND	
ExPLORATION	OPERATIONs.
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ENvirONmENT
Tanami Gold recognises that through the 

nature and scale of its activities in the 

relatively pristine Tanami Desert, there is 

a fundamental requirement to conduct 

its operations in an environmentally 

responsible manner.

Ongoing flora and fauna surveys have 

continued to build upon the Company’s 

environmental baseline studies. These 

studies have significantly increased the 

Company’s knowledge of the varied flora 

and fauna species and their associated 

habitats. Environmental management 

systems have been implemented 

ensuring a minimum negative impact 

on the environment due to mining and 

exploration operations.

TJurabaLaN  
TraDiTiONaL OwNErS
The Company’s relationship with the 

Tjurabalan People remains strong and 

will be further strengthened with the 

employment of traditional owners 

either directly by Tanami Gold or by site 

contractors. As the Project develops,  

it is anticipated that further employment 

opportunities will become available for 

the Tjurabalan Traditional Owners. With 

the commencement of gold production,  

a revenue stream flows into the Tjurabalan 

Native Title Land Aboriginal Corporation 

Trust established as part of the landmark 

Mining Agreement executed in April 2005 

which will provide funding for community 

benefits and investments.

Photo courtesy of Jeremy Shepherdson
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Figure 1 –  Three Dimensional two-page spread of Coyote Gold Project showing underground reserve model 

and Stage 1 open pit and underground mine design. 

15-20cm

Visible Gold



10	 TANAMI	GOLD	NL	ANNUAL	REPORT	2008

rESOurCES aND rESErvES
The Coyote Gold Project Mineral Resource is currently undergoing re-estimation, with updated Resources and Reserves expected 

to be announced in 2009. 

The Resources and Reserves presented below represent the previously published Mineral Resource and Reserve Estimate at  

30 June 2007, less mining carried out over the twelve months to 30 June 2008. 

Table 1 – Coyote Gold project mineral resource Estimate at 30 June 2008

Deposit Indicated Inferred Total
Tonnes Au g/t Ounces Tonnes Au g/t Ounces Tonnes Au g/t Ounces

Coyote 322,000 15.7 163,000 372,000 7.6 91,000 694,000 11.4 254,000
Sandpiper 378,000 3.8 46,000 453,000 4.6 67,000 831,000 4.2 113,000
Kookaburra 1,059,000 2.1 71,000 288,000 1.4 13,000 1,347,000 2.0 84,000
Pebbles   0 76,000 2.5 6,000 76,000 2.5 6,000
Total 1,759,000 5.0 280,000 1,189,000 4.6 177,000 2,948,000 4.8 457,000

The Mineral Resource Estimate is reported at a 1 g/t Au lower cut-off. Resource estimation of the Coyote, Sandpiper and Pebbles deposits was completed 
by Mr Malcolm Titley of CSA Australia Pty Ltd, and the Kookaburra resource estimation was conducted in 2005 by Tanami Gold and Mr Lynn Widenbar of 
Widenbar and Associates. Mr Titley and Mr Widenbar are Competent Persons as defined by the JORC code and have given permission to the publication of this 
information in the form in which it appears. The resource estimations were completed using Micromine, Vulcan and Datamine software, comprising of inverse 
distance grade interpolation (supported by Ordinary Kriging) within a block model constrained by 3D wireframed geological boundaries. The wireframes defining 
the mineralisation lodes were based on structural, assay and lithological information. Various top cuts were applied to the drillhole samples based on lode 
domain analysis. Top cuts ranged from 25 to 100 g/t Au. The Mineral Resource Estimate includes the Mineral Reserve Estimate reported below in Table 2.

Tonnes rounded to nearest ‘000 and grade to 0.1g/t. 

Table 2 – Coyote Gold project Stage 1 mineral reserve Estimate at 30 June 2008

Deposit Proved Probable Total
Tonnes Au g/t Ounces Tonnes Au g/t Ounces Tonnes Au g/t Ounces

Coyote Underground - - - 274,900 13.1 115,800 274,900 13.1 115,800

The Coyote underground reserve is unchanged from the 30 June 2007 published reserve, but has been depleted for underground mining of development ore to 
30 June 2008. The underground reserve estimation was conducted by Stephen Miller of Redrock Engineering Pty Ltd, who is a Competent Person as defined 
by the JORC code and who has given permission to the publication of this information in the form in which it appears. A lower cut of 8.0g/t Au was applied to 
ore blocks and appropriate dilution was applied to development ore for the estimation of the Coyote underground reserves. 

Tonnes rounded to nearest ‘00 and grade to 0.1g/t.

Right: Gold Pour
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TANAMI	GOLD	BELIEvEs	ITs	TENEMENT	
hOLDING	wIThIN	ThE	TANAMI-ARUNTA	
PROvINcE	RANks	hIGhLy	AMONGsT	ANy	
GEOLOGIcAL	PROvINcE	IN	AUsTRALIA	IN	
ITs	POTENTIAL	TO	hOsT	AN	UNDIscOvERED	
wORLD	cLAss	sTAND-ALONE	GOLD	DEPOsIT.

TANAMI	GOLD	NL	ANNUAL	REPORT	2008	 11
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TANAMI GOLD NL’S 
COMMITMENT TO EXPLORE FOR 
NEW DISCOvERIES WITHIN ITS 
LARGE AND HIGHLY PROSPECTIvE 
LANDHOLDINGS LOCATED IN 
THE TANAMI-ARUNTA PROvINCE 
OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA AND 
THE NORTHERN TERRITORY 
CONTINUED DURING THE YEAR 
AND REMAINS AN IMPORTANT 
COMPONENT OF THE COMPANY’S 
GROWTH STRATEGY. 

1.  COYOTE GOLD prOJECT  
- STaGE 2 

Development - the Company aims to 

underpin a long mine life and meet its 

goal of increasing the production  

profile to +70,000 ounces gold  

per year through the:

•	 	ongoing	conversion	of	resources	 

to reserves; 

•	 	extension	of	mineralisation	along	

strike and at depth at Coyote, 

Kookaburra and Sandpiper; and

•	 	development	of	new	satellite	

deposits. 

2.  rEGiONaL  
ExpLOraTiON prOGramS 

 The Company aims to discover new 

gold deposits within its large and highly 

prospective landholdings in the Tanami-

Arunta Province through the: 

•	 	discovery	and	delineation	of	new	gold	

resources which can be transported to 

the Coyote processing plant; and 

•	 	discovery	of	a	new	world	class	 

stand-alone gold deposit which will 

propel Tanami Gold to major  

producer status. 

Tanami Gold has assembled a high 

quality tenement portfolio totalling 

26,006 square kilometres in the  

Tanami-Arunta Province as shown  

in Figure 2. 

ExpLOraTiON  
SummarY 2008

Figure 2- Company Tenement Portfolio

THE COMPANY’S EXPLORATION STRATEGY IS TWO-FOLD: 
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Tanami Gold’s portfolio includes a 

landholding of 6,566 square kilometres 

within the Tanami Province which has 

a gold endowment (sum of current 

resources and past production) of  

>11 million ounces. The ‘Tanami Project’ 

is underpinned by the Company’s  

‘Coyote Gold Project’ tenement package 

of 1,779 square kilometres in the western 

Tanami Province (see Figure 3). 

During the year the Company has added 

to its Tanami Project landholding with 

the application of new 100% owned 

exploration licenses totalling 1,930 

square kilometres in the Granites-Callie 

sector of the eastern Tanami Province. 

The remainder of the Company’s 

landholding lies within the northern 

Arunta Province, which contains rocks 

of the same age as the Tanami Province, 

but which remains largely un-explored. 

This includes the Company’s highly 

prospective Lake Mackay Project. 

Tanami Gold believes its tenement 

holding within the Tanami-Arunta 

Province ranks highly amongst any 

geological province in Australia in its 

potential to host an undiscovered world 

class stand-alone gold deposit. 

COYOTE GOLD prOJECT - 
STaGE 2 DEvELOpmENT
During the past year, the Company has 

focused the majority of its exploration 

effort on the Coyote Gold Project with the 

aim to underpin the Stage 2 Development 

program by the discovery of new gold 

mineralised lode systems in under-drilled 

areas of the Coyote mineralised system 

and by extensions to existing resources 

and reserves.

• Coyote In-Mine Exploration Program 

It has long been the opinion of the 

Company that the exposure of the Coyote 

Gold Deposit ore bodies in the open pits 

and underground will lead to improved 

understanding of the ore lode geometry 

and subsequently to discovery of 

additional Resources and Reserves. 

Geological mapping of the open pits 

undertaken at Coyote during the year 

has highlighted the excellent along strike 

and up/down dip continuity of the quartz 

vein-sets which host gold mineralisation. 

Several high grade vein systems, the 

upper parts of which were previously 

mined during open-pit mining, have 

been mapped in the walls of the open 

pit, and are interpreted to extend over a 

significant strike distance into the walls 

and down-dip beneath the open pit. 

Three of the main Coyote Pit 2 lodes, 

P2-1, P2-4 and P2-8, are currently being 

explored via underground exploration 

adits into the western wall of Pit 2, with 

strike–drives confirming the continuity 

and high grade nature of these vein-sets. 

Also in Coyote Pit 2, the high grade 

Gonzales Lode has been mapped on  

the east wall of the pit with greater  

up-dip and along strike continuity of  

the lode than was previously recognised 

from drilling. An underground adit 

into the eastern wall of Pit 2 has been 

commenced which has confirmed the 

high grade and excellent along-strike 

continuity of the lode beyond the limits 

of the current Resource block model. 

Geological mapping is also currently 

underway at the Kookaburra and 

Sandpiper open pits at Bald Hill, with 

the aim to confirm the mineralised lode 

geometry and undertake re-estimation of 

the remaining Resources and Reserves to 

determine the viability of recommencing 

mining of the open pits. 

Figure 3 – Western Tanami Landholding

TANAMI	GOLD	NL	ANNUAL	REPORT	2008	 13
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DriLLiNG aT  
COYOTE GOLD prOJECT
• Coyote Drilling Program

The majority of previous drilling at the 

Coyote Gold Deposit has concentrated on 

development of the Mineral Resource to a 

depth of approximately 200 metres below 

surface (‘mbs’). The deposit has been 

only lightly drilled from 200-300mbs, and 

drilling is sparse beneath 300mbs. 

Gold deposits in the Tanami District 

commonly form ‘clusters’ of deposits 

comprising an extension to the 

mineralised structure, or satellite 

deposits on structures or stratigraphic 

host units which lie adjacent to the 

known mineralisation. The discovery 

of such deposits has traditionally 

required development of a stratigraphic 

/ structural geological model to explain 

the local controls on gold mineralisation, 

followed by a focused campaign of 

drilling to test conceptual targets in 

favourable near-mine locations. 

When compared against other gold 

deposits in the Tanami District the 

Coyote Deposit is most analogous to the 

world-class Callie deposit which displays 

remarkable continuity of mineralisation 

to depths of >1000mbs. Both deposits 

share numerous geological similarities. 

The key elements of stratigraphy and 

structure which hosts and localises 

mineralisation have been established 

at Coyote. From this understanding the 

Company’s geologists have identified 

several prospective drill targets. 

The Coyote Extensions drilling 

program targeted down-plunge and 

depth extensions of the high grade 

gold mineralisation within the Coyote 

mineralised system. 

As announced during the year, the 

Coyote Extensions Program successfully 

discovered a potentially significant new 

high grade gold lode - the ‘Bommie 

Lode’. Diamond core drillhole CYDD170 

intersected a quartz vein with abundant 

visible gold, located approximately  

80m beneath the main Gonzales Lode 

(see Figure 1). 

The new gold-bearing vein returned an 

exceptional drill intercept:

•			 	0.4	metres	at	1,117g/t	Au	from	286.35	

metres down hole

Also in CYDD170 a second quartz vein 

which lies adjacent to the bonanza-grade 

intercept (above) returned an assay of 0.5 

metres at 30.2g/t Au from 289.5 metres. 

As follow-up to CYDD170, diamond hole 

CYDD171 was drilled to intercept the 

down-dip continuation of the new high 

grade veins. CYDD171 contained a number 

of significant intersections including 0.6 

metres at 38.9g/t Au from 282.7 metres, 0.3 

metres at 132g/t Au from 290.8 metres and 

0.3 metres at 114g/t Au from 319.2 metres. 

Note: All are down hole intercepts. The 

new Bommie Lode system comprises 

multiple close spaced vein sets similar 

to the Gonzales Lode and other Coyote 

Reserve lodes. 

Drilling at Coyote Gold Project
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Significant assay results returned for the 2008 drilling program are tabulated below. 

TabLE 1 – Coyote Drilling program 2008 - Significant Gold assays (+10g/t au)

Hole ID
Depth From 

(metres)
Depth To 
(metres)

Down Hole 
Width 

(metres)

Au grams/
tonne 

(uncut)
Lode 

System
CYDD 167 132.7 133.0 0.30 34.8 Speedy

CYDD 168 172.8 173.35 0.55 17.9 Speedy

CYDD 169 72.0 73.25 1.25 17.5 Speedy

CYDD 169 81.4 82.4 1.00 18.9 Speedy

CYDD 170 130.90 131.20 0.30 27.7 Gonzales

CYDD 170 169.50 170.00 0.50 68.1 Gonzales

CYDD 170 174.50 176.00 1.50 25.4 Gonzales

CYDD 170 226.15 226.40 0.25 150 Grunters

CYDD 170 286.35 286.75 0.40 1,117 Bommie

CYDD 170 289.50 290.00 0.50 30.2 Bommie

CYDD 171 276.0 276.3 0.3 16.1 Bommie

CYDD 171 282.7 283.3 0.6 38.9 Bommie

CYDD 171 290.8 291.1 0.3 132 Bommie

CYDD 171 319.2 319.5 0.3 114 Bommie

 

Photographs of diamond core drill hole CYDD170 showing visible gold hosted in quartz veins

Core trays

The Coyote diamond core drilling program 

has highlighted the under-drilled status of 

the Coyote Deposit at depth and reinforced 

the prospectivity of the Coyote mineral 

system to host additional new Resources 

and Reserves. 

The Company is confident that the 

Coyote Stage 2 Development Program 

will lead to an increase in Resources 

and Reserves via conversion of existing 

Resources to Reserves, from extensions 

to existing lodes, and from discovery of 

new lodes by deep drilling programs. 

Additional Stage 2 Reserves generated 

from future drilling programs will 

have a positive impact on the overall 

profitability of the Coyote Gold Project, 

on the basis that capital development 

costs have been largely accounted for 

during the current Stage 1 phase of the 

Coyote Underground. 

TANAMI	GOLD	NL	ANNUAL	REPORT	2008	 15



rEGiONaL  
ExpLOraTiON prOGram
Tanami Gold is committed to regional 

exploration programs with the aim to 

discover a world class gold deposit 

within its large and highly prospective 

Tanami – Arunta Province landholdings. 

Regional exploration programs are 

also aimed at the discovery of satellite 

resources which can be trucked to the 

Coyote processing plant.  

 
• Tanami Project 

From September to November 2007 

a 32,000 metre RAB/Aircore drilling 

program commenced on high ranking 

targets within the Company’s extensive 

regional landholdings in the Tanami – 

Arunta Province. This regional drilling 

program continued in July - August 2008 

with the drilling of an additional 15,000 

metres RAB/Aircore. 

The drilling programs have highlighted 

numerous geochemical anomalies, 

including several plus 1g/t Au drill 

intercepts, which are earmarked for 

additional follow-up drilling over the 

next year. 

• Arunta Project  

Exploration activities in the Arunta 

have focused on the Tekapo Prospect at 

the Lake Mackay Project, where earlier 

drilling (2006) returned highly significant 

first pass drill intercepts of up to 16 

metres at 3.4g/t gold from 29 metres and 

4 metres at 2.7% copper from 49 metres. 

These results represent a significant 

copper-gold potential given this area 

has previously not been subject to any 

modern mineral exploration. 

Research into the Tekapo mineralisation 

conducted during early 2008 suggested 

that the mineralisation may represent a 

possible Iron Oxide Copper-Gold (‘IOCG’) 

mineralisation similar to the Tennant 

Creek or Cloncurry style of gold-copper 

mineralisation. A geophysical program 

is planned with the aim to identify 

deep drill targets at Tekapo, and also to 

determine a geophysical signature of the 

gold-copper mineralisation which can be 

applied via broad airborne surveys over 

the entire Lake Mackay Project. 

A program of detailed ground-based 

geophysical surveying, including 

magnetic, gravity, Induced Polarisation 

(‘IP’) and Electromagnetic (‘EM’) 

surveying, has commenced at 

Tekapo, with the magnetic and gravity 

components of the program completed 

in June 2008. Follow-up IP and EM 

surveying is planned. 

ThEsE	REsULTs	REPREsENT	
A	sIGNIfIcANT	cOPPER-GOLD	
POTENTIAL	GIvEN	ThIs	AREA	hAs	
PREvIOUsLy	NOT	BEEN	sUBjEcT	TO	
ANy	MODERN	MINERAL	ExPLORATION.	



2008 ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL REPORT 
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Your Directors present their Report together with the financial report of Tanami Gold NL (“the Company”) and the consolidated financial 
report of the Consolidated Entity, being the Company, its subsidiary and the Group’s interest in jointly controlled entities, for the year ended 
30 June 2008 and the auditor’s report thereon.

1. Directors 
The Directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:

Executive Chairman – Denis P Waddell, ACA, FAICD (appointed 21 July 1995)

Mr Denis Waddell, aged 51, is a Chartered Accountant with extensive experience in the management of exploration and mining companies. 
Prior to establishing Tanami Gold NL in 1994, he was the Finance Director of the Metana Minerals NL group. During the past 25 years, he 
has gained considerable experience in corporate, finance and operations management of exploration and mining companies. 
Mr Waddell was previously a director of Jabiru Metals Limited and resigned as a director on 27 February 2006.

Managing Director/ CEO – Graeme J Sloan, B.App.Sc (Mining) (appointed 18 September 2008)

Graeme Sloan, aged 54, is a Mining Engineer with extensive operational and corporate experience both within Australia and overseas 
including experience as a Managing Director/CEO of a publicly listed mining company. Mr Sloan’s mining experience has been gained in 
different commodities and includes project development, open pit and underground mining. Mr Sloan is also a Non-Executive Director of 
Goldstar Resources NL and was appointed on 23 July 2008.

Non-Executive Director – Alan A Senior (appointed 31 July 2007)

Mr Alan Senior, aged 62, is a Consulting Engineer with over 30 years of experience in design and project development mainly associated 
with the mining and mineral processing industry in Australia. Mr Senior’s previous roles include Project Manager for the development of the 
Cosmos Nickel Mine and the subsequent transition from open cut to underground mining for Jubilee Mines NL. Mr Senior was previously a 
director of Jubilee Mines NL and resigned as a director on 11 February 2008. Mr Senior is also the independent Non-Executive Chairman of 
Talisman Mining Limited and was appointed on 7 November 2007. 

Non-Executive Director – Lee Seng Hui (appointed 5 March 2008)

Mr Lee Seng Hui, aged 39, is currently the Chief Executive of Allied Group Limited, a Hong Kong listed company, having been appointed 
in January 1998. Seng Hui graduated with Honours from the Law School of the University of Sydney. Seng Hui previously worked with Baker 
& McKenzie and NM Rothschild & Sons (Hong Kong) Limited.  Following his appointment as a Non-Executive Director of Allied Group Limited 
in July 1992, Seng Hui became an Executive Director in December 1993 and is also a Non-Executive Director and Chairman of Tian An China  
Investments Company Limited and an Executive Director of Yu Ming Investments Limited, both of which are Hong Kong listed companies.

Operations Director – Franciscus Sibbel, B.E.(Hons) Mining, F.Aus.IMM (appointed 7 July 2006)

Mr Franciscus (Frank) Sibbel, aged 60, has 37 years of operational, project management and consultancy experience covering operational 
and financial management of many projects within large and small mining companies. Importantly, Mr Sibbel has successfully managed 
projects from development through to successful operations including open pit and underground mining and related processing facilities.

Mr Sibbel resigned as a director on 30 June 2008.

2. Company Secretary 
Kim Hogg B.Com

Mr Kim Hogg was re-appointed to the position of Company Secretary on 1 June 2007, having previously held the position between April 1998 
and December 2005. Mr Hogg has worked in the private sector for the past 15 years as a principal of an accounting practice providing specialist 
services to clients seeking to raise capital and list on ASX. He has predominately been involved in the preparation of prospectuses and in 
compliance work as Company Secretary for both listed and unlisted entities, and is currently Company Secretary of several ASX-listed companies.

3. Directors’ Meetings 
The number of Directors’ meetings, including meetings of committees of Directors, and number of meetings attended by each of the 
Directors of the Company during the financial year:

Director Board Meetings Audit Committee Meetings Remuneration & Nomination 
Committee Meetings

Eligible to 
Attend

Attended Eligible to 
Attend

Attended Eligible to 
Attend

Attended

D Waddell 5 5 2 2 1 1

A Senior 5 5 2 2 1 1

SH Lee 2 2 - - - -

F Sibbel 5 5 - - - -

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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4. Nature of Operations and Principal Activities 
The Company is a no liability company and is domiciled and incorporated in Australia. The principal activity of the Consolidated Entity during 
the course of the financial year was gold mining operations and mineral exploration.

5. Operating and Financial Review 

Coyote Gold Project
During the year, delays in the development of the Coyote Gold Project (‘Project’) underground mine and cessation of open pit mining at Bald 
Hill, impacted on the Company through both cost increases and deferred revenue from gold production.

The delays and cost increases in developing the Project resulted in a loss for the year of $32,585,921 which includes an impairment charge 
of $20,383,191, being a reflection of the previous issues relating to plant design, construction delays, open pit mining dilution/recoveries at 
Bald Hill and cost increases and delays associated with the underground decline development.

Given the continuous high grade narrow veins evidenced in the bottom of the Coyote open pit and as now evidenced in the underground 
workings, the Company recently undertook a review of the underground mining methods at Coyote. The outcome of the review, which 
was undertaken with the assistance of narrow vein mining specialists, is that the Company is currently implementing a more appropriate 
selective mining method. The principal objective of the new mining method is to achieve increased grade and ounces while significantly 
reducing the tonnes of waste mined.

As announced to ASX on 25 June 2008, the Company has moved to owner operator mining due to the changed mining method. The 
transition to owner miner is well advanced with a core group of miners with narrow vein mining experience now on site with others to 
be added as development is extended. During the next few months, the Company will also take delivery of more suitable smaller mining 
equipment, which will be progressively mobilised to site. 

Given the transition to owner miner and the amended mine design, the development of the underground mine to access the high grade 
stoping ore (+13g/t Au) has increased and is anticipated to continue to improve during the December 2008 and March 2009 quarters. 

As the underground mine is developed and more of the orebody is exposed and treated, the Company will gain a better understanding 
of the orebody and mining costs. This will better determine the projected economics of the mine and the preferred mining methods. As 
the underground is developed, it is also intended to test for extensions of existing high grade zones of mineralisation and implement an 
underground diamond drilling program to explore for new lodes.

In addition to the main Coyote underground operation, the Company is also examining the potential to access a number of other potential 
open pit and underground high grade zones of mineralisation located in close proximity of the Coyote treatment plant.

Although there have been delays in developing the Project, all major infrastructure components are complete and fully operational, with the 
new leach tanks in the treatment plant installed and commissioned and the new accommodation village constructed and commissioned.

Due to cost increases and delays in developing the Coyote underground mine combined with the cessation of open pit mining at Bald Hill, 
the Company requires additional funding to continue the development of the Coyote underground mine to the stage of accessing the high 
grade stope ore and to progress the evaluation and mining of other potential ore sources. 

To provide for this funding, the Company announced to ASX on 22 September 2008, that it had arranged a fully underwritten, pro-rata 
renounceable entitlements issue of approximately 2,358,926,706 shares on the basis of two (2) shares for every one (1) share held at an 
issue price of 0.5 cents per share to raise approximately $11.79 million. As set out in the entitlements issue Prospectus, the Company has 
also arranged loan facilities totalling HK$49.5 million (approximately A$7.74 million) with AP Finance Limited, to provide additional funding 
for the Company. The funds raised from the entitlements issue will be used for the repayment of loans which have, or will be, used to fund 
the ongoing development and operations of the Coyote Gold Project, exploration expenditure and working capital, and to fund the costs of 
the offer and for ongoing working capital purposes. The loan facilities may continue to be used to fund the development of the Coyote Gold 
Project and working capital.

Although the Coyote Gold Project has had a number of start-up difficulties, the Board considers that the project still holds significant 
potential to develop into a profitable and expanding operation. Once the Project has been developed, it is intended that cash flow from the 
operation will fund further exploration at and nearby Coyote and within the Company’s extensive exploration portfolio located in the Tanami-
Arunta Province of Central Australia. 

Exploration
During the past year, the Company has focused the majority of its exploration effort on the Coyote Gold Project with the aim of increasing 
resources through the discovery of new gold mineralised lode systems and by extensions to existing resources and reserves. 

Geological mapping of the open pits at Coyote and Bald Hill has highlighted strike and dip extensions of several mineralised quartz vein-sets 
into the walls and floor of the open pits. Interpretation of these lode extensions is underway with the aim to determine the viability of 
mining these lodes via underground adits and / or undertaking open pit cutbacks. 

During the year a major diamond core drilling program was undertaken with the aim to discover significant new gold mineralisation which 
may, with additional delineation drilling and feasibility studies, lead to a future increase in the overall Coyote Mineral Resource and Reserve. 
The ‘Coyote Extensions’ drilling program targeted down-plunge and depth extensions of the high grade gold mineralisation within the 
Coyote mineralised system, leading to the discovery of a significant new high grade lode 80m beneath the Gonzales Lode, which returned a 
bonanza drillhole intercept of 0.4 metres at 1,117g/t Au from 286.35 metres down hole. 

In the twelve months to 31 August 2008 the Company drilled 47,000 metres of RAB and Aircore at regional projects located in Western 
Australia and the Northern Territory. 

Currently the Company is focusing its efforts on completing the Coyote Gold Project underground mine development works, and as such 
exploration programs have been postponed until 2009. The Company remains confident that, once fully operational, Coyote will generate 
cash flow which will fund future exploration programs at Coyote and throughout the Company’s large prospective landholding. 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT   FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
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5. Operating and Financial Review (continued)

Corporate

Share Placements

During the year the Company raised $39,500,000 through the placement of 380,000,000 shares as follows:

In July 2007 the Company issued 50,000,000 ordinary fully paid shares at an issue price of $0.13 per share to raise $6,500,000;•	

In November 2007 the Company issued 125,400,000 ordinary fully paid shares at an issue price of $0.10 per share to raise $12,540,000; and•	

In December 2007 the Company issued 204,600,000 ordinary fully paid shares at an issue price of $0.10 per share to raise $20,460,000.•	

Financial Result

The Consolidated Entity incurred a loss of $32,585,921 (2007: $56,309,031) for the year. This loss included:

An impairment charge of $20,383,919 (2007: $27,567,349) taken against the carrying value of the Coyote Gold Project as a result of •	
a review undertaken by the Company due to the delays and cost increases in developing the underground mine, together with the 
cessation of the mining and treatment of ore from the Bald Hill open pits due to lower than anticipated recovered grades and geological 
interpretations. With new operational management now in place the open pits are being reassessed which may result in mining 
recommencing at a future date.

A write off of exploration expenditure totalling $2,742,606 (2007: $3,803,794).•	

Growth Strategy

The Company’s growth strategy is to:

Develop the Coyote Gold Project to full production status.•	

Enhance and increase production at the Coyote Gold Project through the conversion of existing gold resources and prospects into near •	
mine reserves; 

Pursue intensive and sustained exploration programs aimed at increasing the Company’s existing resource inventory and production •	
profile through down plunge and along strike extensions to known mineralisation and through new discoveries within the Company’s 
major ground holdings located within the prospective Tanami-Arunta Province of Central Australia; and

Identify and evaluate potential project acquisitions.•	

6. Environmental Regulation 
The Consolidated Entity’s operations are subject to environmental regulations under Commonwealth and State legislation. The Directors 
believe that the Consolidated Entity has adequate systems in place for the management of the requirements under those regulations, and 
are not aware of any breach of such requirements as they apply to the Consolidated Entity.

7. Significant Changes in the State of Affairs 
Significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity during the financial year were as follows:

As set out in section 5 above, the development of the Coyote Gold Project was delayed and experienced cost increases and deferred •	
revenue resulting in a significant loss for the year. The recent appointment of experienced mining personnel with high grade narrow vein 
mining expertise has seen significant improvement in progressing the development of the Coyote Gold Project; and

To fund the development of the Coyote Gold Project and to provide working capital and exploration funding, various share placements •	
were made during the year as set out in section 5 above.

8. Dividends 
The Directors have not recommended the declaration of a dividend. No dividends were paid or declared during the period.

9. Events Subsequent to Reporting Date 
Appointment of Managing Director/CEO 

On 22 September 2008, the Company announced the appointment of Mr Graeme Sloan as Managing Director/CEO of the Company.

Fully Underwritten Renounceable Entitlements Issue

On 22 September 2008, the Company announced a fully underwritten, pro-rata renounceable entitlements issue of 2,358,926,706 shares 
on the basis of two (2) shares for every one (1) share held at an issue price of 0.5 cents per share to raise $11.79 million before issue costs.

Loan from AP Finance Ltd

On 1 September 2008 the Company entered into a loan agreement with AP Finance Limited under which AP Finance Limited has agreed to 
lend the Company up to HK$14.5 million (approximately A$2.15 million) at an interest rate of 15% per annum. The Company must repay the 
Loan in full by 30 September 2009 or at any time within 60 days of receipt of a notice of repayment from AP Finance Limited.

The ultimate holding company of AP Finance Limited is Allied Group Limited, an entity associated with Mr SH Lee, who is a Director of  
the Company.

On 12 September 2008, the Company entered into a loan agreement with AP Finance Limited under which AP Finance Limited has agreed 
to lend the Company up to HK$35 million (approximately A$5.59 million) at an interest rate of 15% per annum. The Company must repay 
the Loan in full by 30 September 2009 or at any time within 60 days of receipt of a notice of repayment from AP Finance Limited. 

The ultimate holding company of AP Finance Limited is Allied Group Limited, an entity associated with Mr SH Lee, who is a Director of  
the Company.
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10. Likely Developments 
The Company will continue to develop, operate and progress the expansion of the Coyote Gold Project and undertake further exploration 
work on its tenement interests in the Tanami-Arunta Province located in Central Australia.

11. Directors’ Interests 
The relevant interest of each Director in shares and options of the Company, as notified by the Directors to the Australian Securities Exchange 
in accordance with section S205G(1) of the Corporations Act 2001, at the date of this report is as follows:

Director Relevant Interests of Directors in Securities of Tanami Gold NL

Fully Paid Shares Contributing Shares Unquoted Options
D Waddell 14,000,000 - 15,000,000

G Sloan - - -

F Sibbel 600,000 - 10,000,000

A Senior 100,000 - 3,500,000

SH Lee* 190,000,000 - -

* These shares are held by Allied Properties Resources Limited and its associate Eurogold Limited. Eurogold Limited is 49.37% owned by Allied Properties (HK) 
Limited, which is an intermediate holding company of Allied Properties Resources Limited. The ultimate holding company of Allied Properties Resources Limited 
is Allied Group Limited, an entity in which Mr SH Lee (together with others as trustees of the Lee and Lee Trust) has an interest of 43.64%. Accordingly, Mr SH 
Lee is taken to have a relevant interest in the 190,000,000 shares held by Allied Properties Resources Limited and Eurogold Limited.

12. Share Options 

Options granted to Directors of the Company
During the financial year, the Company granted options for no consideration over unissued ordinary shares in Tanami Gold to the following 
most highly remunerated officers of the Company as part of their remuneration package:

Directors Number of Options Granted Exercise Price Expiry Date

F Sibbel 5,000,000 $0.20 18 July 2012

F Sibbel 5,000,000 $0.15 18 July 2012

A Senior 1,750,000 $0.20 22 November 2012

A Senior 1,750,000 $0.15 22 November 2012

Options granted to Executive Officers of the Company
During the financial year, the Company granted options for no consideration over unissued ordinary shares in Tanami Gold to the following 
most highly remunerated officers of the Company as part of their remuneration package:

Executive Officers Number of Options Granted Exercise Price Expiry Date

J Latto 300,000 $0.15 31 March 2012

All options were granted during the financial year. No options have been granted since the end of the financial year to Executive Officers of 
the Company. 
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12. Share Options (continued)

Unissued shares under option 
At the date of this report the unissued ordinary shares in Tanami Gold under option are:

Number Type Exercise Price ($) Expiry Date

15,000,000 Unquoted $0.225 20 October 2009

450,000 Unquoted $0.225 22 November 2009

1,250,000 Unquoted $0.18 22 November 2009

1,900,000 Unquoted $0.15 31 March 2012

5,000,000 Unquoted $0.20 18 July 2012

5,000,000 Unquoted $0.15 18 July 2012

1,750,000 Unquoted $0.20 22 November 2012

1,750,000 Unquoted $0.15 22 November 2012
32,100,000

During the year no options lapsed unexercised and the following options were forfeited on cessation of employment:

Exercise Price ($) Number of Options Grant Date Expiry Date

$0.20 1,500,000 27 November 2003 27 November 2008

$0.225 18,750,000 20 October 2004 20 October 2009

$0.225 100,000 22 November 2005 22 November 2009

$0.18 950,000 1 December 2005 22 November 2009

$0.15 500,000 30 April 2007 31 March 2012
21,800,000

Share options issued 
The following options over ordinary shares were issued by the Company during or since the end of the financial year:

Exercise Price ($) Number of Options Grant Date Expiry Date

$0.20 5,000,000 18 July 2007 18 July 2012

$0.15 5,000,000 18 July 2007 18 July 2012

$0.20 1,750,000 23 November 2007 22 November 2012

$0.15 1,750,000 23 November 2007 22 November 2012

$0.15 200,000 30 July 2007 31 March 2012

$0.15 300,000 5 October 2007 31 March 2012

$0.15 150,000 1 August 2007 31 March 2012
14,150,000

The options with an expiry date of 31 March 2012 include those issued to Executive Officers referred to above.

Shares issued on exercise of options
No ordinary shares were issued by the Company as a result of the exercise of options during or since the end of the financial year.
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13. Remuneration Report – audited

13.1 Principles of compensation 
Key management personnel have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company and the 
Group, including directors of the Company and other executives. Key management personnel comprise the directors of the Company and 
executives for the Company and the Group including the five most highly remunerated Company and Group executives.

Compensation levels for key management personnel of the Company, and relevant key management personnel of the Group are 
competitively set to attract and retain appropriately qualified and experienced directors and executives. The Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee obtains independent advice on the appropriateness of compensation packages of both the Company and the Group, which take 
into consideration trends in comparative companies both locally and internationally. 

The compensation structures are designed to attract suitably qualified candidates, reward the achievement of strategic objectives, and to 
achieve the broader outcome of creation of value for shareholders. Compensation packages include a mix of fixed compensation and equity-
based compensation as well as employer contributions to superannuation funds.

Shares and options may only be issued to directors subject to approval by shareholders in general meeting.

The Board has no established retirement or redundancy schemes.

13.1.1 Fixed compensation 

Fixed compensation consists of base compensation as well as employer contributions to superannuation funds.

Compensation levels are reviewed annually by the Remuneration and Nomination Committee through a process that considers individual 
and overall performance of the Group. In addition, external consultants provide analysis and advice to ensure the directors’ and senior 
executives’ compensation is competitive in the market place. A senior executive’s compensation is also reviewed on promotion.

13.1.2 Performance-linked compensation (Short-term incentive bonus) 

The Company does not have performance linked short-term incentives.

13.1.3 Equity-based compensation (Long-term incentive bonus) 

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee has introduced equity-based long-term incentives (LTIs) to promote continuity of 
employment and to provide additional incentive to increase shareholder wealth. LTIs are provided as options over ordinary shares of the 
Company and are provided to key management personnel and employees based on their level of seniority and position within the Company 
and are exercisable after two years of grant.

If the option holder ceases to be a director and/or employee of the Company during the vesting period for any reason, the options will 
expire and cease to carry any rights or benefits unless otherwise approved by the Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

There are no voting or dividend rights attached to the options. Voting rights will be attached to the ordinary issued shares when the options 
have been exercised.

The Company has put in place an Employee Option Plan. Options may only be issued to Directors subject to approval by shareholders in 
general meeting.

13.1.4 Service contracts 

Compensation and other terms of employment for the directors and key management personnel are formalised in contracts of 
employment. The major provisions of the agreements relating to compensation are set out below.

Mr Denis P Waddell – Executive Chairman

Mr Waddell has a contract of employment with the Company dated 31 December 2004. The contract specifies the duties and obligations to 
be fulfilled by the Executive Chairman. The contract may be terminated by either party by the provision of 12 months’ notice. The contract 
allows for the Company to make payment in lieu of notice equal to the annual base salary which represented market practice at the time 
the contract was entered into.

Mr Frank Sibbel – Operations Director 

Mr Sibbel has a contract of employment with the Company dated 17 November 2006. The contract specifies the duties and obligations to 
be fulfilled by the Operations Director. The contract may be terminated by either party by the provision of 6 months’ notice. Mr Sibbel has 
retired, and stood down as a director on 30 June 2008. No termination payments were payable.

Mr Geoff Cheong – Resident Manager

Mr Cheong had a contract of employment with the Company dated 7 November 2006 as Mill Superintendent. Mr Cheong was promoted to 
Resident Manager on 5 March 2008 and the contract specifies the duties and obligations to be fulfilled by the Resident Manager. The contract 
may be terminated by either party by the provision of one month’s notice. 

Mr Tim Smith – Geology Manager

Mr Smith has a contract of employment with the Company dated 24 June 2003 as Exploration Manager. Mr Smith was promoted to Geology 
Manager on 17 June 2008 and the contract specifies the duties and obligations to be fulfilled by the Geology Manager. The contract may be 
terminated by either party by the provision of one month’s notice. 

Mr Jon Latto – Chief Financial Officer

Mr Latto has a contract of employment with the Company dated 14 September 2007. The contract specifies the duties and obligations to be 
fulfilled by the Chief Financial Officer. The contract may be terminated by either party by the provision of three months’ notice.

All of the service contracts noted also contain standard employment conditions normally associated with these types of agreements. 
In addition, although various periods are set out for termination, these do not apply in the case of serious misconduct.
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13. Remuneration Report (continued)

13.1.5 Non-executive directors 

Non-executive directors do not receive performance related compensation. Directors’ fees cover all main board activities and membership 
of any committee. The Board has no established retirement or redundancy schemes in relation to non-executive directors.

13.2 Directors’ and executive officers’ remuneration 
Details of the nature and amounts of each major element of the remuneration of each director of the Company and each of the named 
officers of the Company and the Consolidated Entity receiving the highest remuneration are:

Short Term Post 
employment

Share based 
payments

Total 
remuneration

Salary & 
fees

$

STI
Cash

Bonuses
$

Non-
monetary 
benefits

$

Super-
annuation 
benefits

$

Calculated 
value of 
options 

(non cash)
$

Value of options 
as a proportion 

of total 
remuneration

%
Directors

D Waddell 
(Executive Chairman)

2008
2007

446,010
424,771

-
-

8,278
8,686

40,141
38,230

-
-

494,429
471,687

-
-

F Sibbel (i) 
(Operations Director)

2008
2007

395,553
370,938

-
-

10,012
6,566

34,679
22,018

103,026
-

543,270
399,522

18.96
-

SH Lee (ii)
(Non-Executive Director)

2008
2007

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

Alan Senior
(Non-Executive Director)

2008
2007

48,333
-

-
-

-
-

4,350
-

21,816
-

74,499
-

29.28

Former Directors

M Kavanagh (iii) 
(Non-Executive Director)

2008
2007

-
44,000

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
44,000

-
-

G Comb (iv)
(Non-Executive Director)

2008
2007

-
21,407

-
-

-
-

-
1,927

-
-

-
23,334

-
-

Total all specified Directors 2008
2007

889,896
861,116

-
-

18,290
15,252

79,170
62,175

124,842
-

1,112,198
938,543

Executives
G Cheong (v)
(Resident Manager)

2008
2007

230,412
100,385

10,310
-

2,156
2,258

20,737
9,035

10,145
2,822

273,760
114,500

3.71
2.46

T Smith
(Geology Manager)

2008
2007

194,250
177,832

-
-

3,241
3,586

17,483
16,005

17,295
16,175

232,269
213,598

7.45
7.57

J Latto (vi)
(Chief Financial Officer)

2008
2007

125,521
-

-
-

2,628
-

11,297
-

5,771
  -

145,217
-

3.97
-

Former Executives

M Casey (vii)
(Resident Manager)

2008
2007

 326,706
173,320

14,465
-

 391
-

 18,827
15,599

 17,079
16,746

 377,468
205,665

 4.52
8.14

C Mardon (viii)
(General Manager 
Operations)

2008
2007

-
70,623

-
-

-
557

-
4,645

-
-

-
75,825

-
-

R Dawkins (ix)
(Financial Controller)

2008
2007

96,776
89,538

-
-

1,010
1,231

5,097
8,058

9,288
1,938

112,171
100,765

8.28
1.92

J Traicos (x)
(Company Secretary)

2008
2007

-
154,390

-
-

-
3,795

-
13,211

-
-

-
171,396

-
-

Total all named Executives 2008
2007

973,665
766,088

24,775 9,426
11,427

73,441
66,553

59,578
37,681

1,140,885
881,749

-
-

Total all specified Directors 
and Executives

2008
2007

1,863,561
1,627,204

24,775
-

27,716
26,679

152,611
128,728

184,420
37,681

2,253,083
1,820,292

-
-

(i) Appointed July 2006. Resigned June 2008
(ii) Appointed March 2008
(iii) Resigned July 2007
(iv) Resigned January 2007

(v) Appointed December 2007
(vi) Appointed November 2007
(vii) Appointed August 2006. Resigned March 2008
(viii) Resigned September 2006
(ix) Appointed December 2006. Resigned November 2007
(x) Resigned May 2007
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13. Remuneration Report (continued)

13.3 Equity Instruments 

13.3.1 Options over equity instruments granted as compensation 

Details of options over ordinary shares in the Company that were granted as compensation to key management personnel during the 
reporting period and details of options and rights that were vested during the reporting period are as follows:

Number of 
options granted 

during 2008

Grant Date Number 
of options 

vested 
during 2008

Fair value 
per option at 

grant date 
($)

Exercise/notional 
price per option

($)

Expiry date/
Anniversary date

Directors
Mr D Waddell - - - - - -

Mr F Sibbel 5,000,000 18 July 2007 - 0.04 $0.20 18 July 2012

Mr F Sibbel 5,000,000 18 July 2007 - 0.04 $0.15 18 July 2012

Mr SH Lee - - - - - -

Mr A Senior 1,750,000 23 November 2007 - 0.03 $0.20 22 November 2012

Mr A Senior 1,750,000 23 November 2007 - 0.03 $0.15 22 November 2012

Executives
Mr G Cheong - - - - - -

Mr M Casey - - - - - -

Mr T Smith - - - - - -

Mr J Latto 300,000 5 October 2007 - 0.05 0.15 31 March 2012

All options held by Mr R Dawkins were forfeited six months after cessation of employment.

13.3.2 Modifications of terms of equity-settled share-based payment transactions 

No terms of equity-settled share-based payment transactions (including options and rights granted as compensation to a key management 
person) have been altered or modified by the issuing entity during the reporting period or the prior period.

13.3.3 Exercise of options granted as compensation 

No options over ordinary shares previously granted as compensation were exercised by a key management person during the reporting 
period or the prior period.

13.4 Equity instruments 

13.4.1 Analysis of options and rights over equity instruments granted as compensation 

Details of the vesting profile of the options granted as remuneration to each director of the Company and each of the named Company 
executives and relevant group executives is detailed below.

Options Granted % Vested in 
year

% Forfeited 
in year

Financial year in 
which grants vest

Value yet to 
vest ($)Number Date

Directors
Mr D Waddell 15,000,000 20 Oct 2004 - - 2005 -

Mr F Sibbel 5,000,000 18 Jul 2007 - - 2009 -

Mr F Sibbel 5,000,000 18 Jul 2007 96% - 2009 4,479

Mr A Senior 1,750,000 23 Nov 2007 30% - 2009 15,446

Mr A Senior 1,750,000 23 Nov 2007 60% - 2009 9,913

Mr SH Lee - - - - - -

Company Executives
Mr G Cheong 100,000 11 Dec 2006 50% - 2008 1,131

Mr G Cheong 200,000 30 Apr 2007 50% - 2009 6,192

Mr T Smith 200,000 22 Nov 2004 - - 2005 -

Mr T Smith 300,000 1 Dec 2005 21% - 2007 -

Mr T Smith 250,000 30 Apr 2007 50% - 2009 7,740

Mr J Latto 300,000 5 Oct 2007 38% - 2009 9,618

Mr M Casey 250,000 7 Aug 2006 50% - 2008 1,423

Mr M Casey 250,000 30 Apr 2007 50% - 2009 7,740

Mr R Dawkins 300,000 30 Apr 2007 42% 100% 2009 -

13.4.2 Analysis of movements in options and rights

The only movement during the reporting period were options granted to key management personnel as described above. There were no 
options exercised and 21,800,000 options were forfeited on cessation of employment during the reporting period. 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT   FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
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14. Non-Audit Services 
During the year KPMG, the Consolidated Entity’s auditor did not perform services other than their statutory audits. 

The board has established certain procedures to ensure that the provision of non-audit services are compatible with, and do not 
compromise, the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. These procedures include:

a. Non-audit services will be subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Company and will be reviewed by the Audit 
and Risk Committee to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor.

b. Ensuring non-audit services do not involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision making 
capacity for the Company, acting as an advocate for the Company or jointly sharing risks and rewards.

15. Indemnification and Insurance of Officers and Auditors 

Indemnification
The Company has agreed to indemnify both the current directors of the Company and former directors against liability incurred to a third 
party (not being the Company or any related company) that may arise from their positions as directors of the Company and its controlled 
entities, unless the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith.

The Company has also agreed to cover the costs and expenses incurred in successfully defending civil or criminal proceedings, or in 
connection with a successful application for relief under the Corporations Act 2001. The Company also provides indemnity against costs and 
expenses in connection with an application where a court grants relief to a director under the Corporations Act 2001.

Insurance Premiums
Since the end of the 2007 financial year, the Company has paid insurance premiums in respect of directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, 
for the directors of the controlled entity. In accordance with subsection 300(9) of the Corporations Act 2001, further details have not been 
disclosed due to confidentiality provisions of the insurance contracts.

16. Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration Under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001
The lead auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 27 and forms part of the directors’ report for the financial year ended 30 
June 2008.

Dated at Perth, Western Australia this 30th day of September 2008.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

D P Waddell

Executive Chairman

DIRECTORS’ REPORT   FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
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LEAD AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE STATEMENT
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
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CORPORATE GOvERNANCE STATEMENT
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

The Board of Directors of Tanami Gold is responsible for the corporate governance of the economic entity. The Board guides and monitors 
the business and affairs of Tanami Gold on behalf of the shareholders by whom they are elected and to whom they are accountable.

To ensure that the Board is well equipped to discharge its responsibilities, it has established guidelines for the nomination and selection of 
directors and for the operation of the Board.

COMPOSITION OF ThE BOARD 
The composition of the Board is determined in accordance with the following principles and guidelines:

the Board should comprise at least three directors a majority of whom should be non-executive directors;•	

the Board should comprise directors with an appropriate range of qualifications and expertise; and•	

the Board shall meet at regular intervals and follow meeting guidelines set down to ensure all directors are made aware and have •	
available all necessary information to participate in an informed discussion of all agenda items.

When a vacancy exists, through whatever cause, or where it is considered that the Board would benefit from the service of a new director 
with particular skills, the Board selects a candidate or panel of candidates with the appropriate expertise.

The Board then appoints the most suitable candidate, who must stand for election at the next general meeting of shareholders.

REMUNERATION 
It is the Company’s objective to provide maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality Board and executive team by 
remunerating directors and key executives fairly and appropriately with reference to relevant employment market conditions. The expected 
outcomes of the remuneration structure are:

Retention and motivation of key executives.•	

Attraction of quality management to the Company.•	

Performance incentives which allow executives to share the rewards of the success of Tanami Gold.•	

For details on the amount of remuneration and all monetary and non-monetary components for all directors, refer to the Directors’ Report. 
In relation to the payment of bonuses, options and other incentive payments, discretion is exercised by the Board, having regard to the 
overall performance of Tanami Gold and the performance of the individual during the period.

There is no scheme to provide retirement benefits, other than statutory superannuation, to directors.

A Remuneration Committee was established on 1 July 2005. Remuneration levels are set by the Committee in accordance with industry 
standards to attract suitably qualified and experienced Directors and senior executives. The Committee now comprises A Senior and 
D Waddell.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company has an Audit Committee comprising A Senior (Chairman), and D Waddell. Each of the members has the relevant financial and 
industry experience required to perform Audit Committee functions. Details regarding the relevant qualifications and experience of each 
director who is a member of the Audit Committee is set out in the Directors’ Report.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES
As the Board acts on behalf of and is accountable to the shareholders, it seeks to identify the expectations of the shareholders, as well as 
other regulatory and ethical expectations and obligations. In addition, the Board is responsible for identifying areas of significant business 
risk and ensuring arrangements are in place to adequately manage those risks. The Board seeks to discharge these responsibilities in a 
number of ways.

The responsibility for the administration of the Consolidated Entity is delegated by the Board to the Executive Chairman and the 
responsibility for the operation of the Consolidated Entity is delegated by the Board to the Operations Director. The Board ensures that 
the Executive Chairman and Operations Director are appropriately qualified and experienced to discharge their responsibilities, and have in 
place procedures to assess the performances of the Company’s officers, employees, contractors and consultants. Note that the Operations 
Director (F. Sibbel) resigned on 30 June 2008.

The Board is responsible for ensuring that management’s objectives and activities are aligned with the expectations and risks identified by 
the Board. It has a number of mechanisms in place to ensure this is achieved, including the following:

Board approval of strategic plan, designed to meet shareholder needs and manage business risk;•	

Implementation of operating plans and budgets by management and Board monitoring of progress against budget;•	

Procedures to allow Directors, in the furtherance of their duties, to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.•	
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CORPORATE GOvERNANCE STATEMENT

MONITORING OF ThE BOARD’S PERFORMANCE 
In order to ensure that the Board continues to discharge its responsibilities in an appropriate manner, the performance of all Directors is to 
be reviewed annually by the chairperson. Directors whose performance is unsatisfactory are asked to retire.

BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATION 
Outlined below are the 10 Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice Recommendations as outlined by the ASX and the 
Corporate Governance Council. The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance Best Practice Recommendations except as 
identified below. Details about the Company’s corporate governance policies are set out on the Company’s website at www.tanami.com.au.

Principles of Good Corporate Governance and 
Best Practice Recommendations

Action taken and reasons if not adopted

Recognise and publish the respective roles and responsibilities of 
the Board and management.

Principle 1: Lay solid foundation for management and oversight

1.1 Formalise and disclose the functions reserved to the Board and those 
delegated to management.

Adopted

Have a Board of an effective composition, size and commitment to 
adequately discharge its responsibilities and duties.

Principle 2: Structure the Board to add value

2.1 A majority of the Board should be independent.

2.2 The chairperson should be an independent Director.

2.3 The roles of chairperson and chief executive officer should not be 
exercised by the same individual.

2.4 The board should establish a nomination committee.

2.5 Provide the information indicated in ‘Guide to reporting on Principle 2’.

Adopted except as follows:-

2.1 The Board considers that its current structure is 
appropriate given its size and that the current directors 
provide the necessary \diversity of skills and experience 
which is \appropriate for the Company’s current projects 
and business.

 Mr D Waddell, as Executive Chairman, is not 
independent. The Board considers that this is not 
inappropriate given his experience in the resource 
sector in Australia and the Company’s current stage 
of development. 

2.3 The roles of Chairperson and Managing Director are 
exercised by the same individual. Given the size of the 
Company, Mr D Waddell assumed a full-time executive 
role (effective 1 July 2005) in order to facilitate the 
planned transition from explorer to producer. It is 
intended to review the position of Managing Director as 
the Company develops. 

 Mr F Sibbel, as Operations Director, has assumed day to 
day operations responsibility.

Actively promote ethical and responsible decision-making.

Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision-making

3.1 Establish a code of conduct to guide the directors, the chief executive 
officer (or equivalent), the chief financial officer (or equivalent) and 
any other key executives as to:

the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company’s •	
integrity.
the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting or •	
investigating reports of unethical practices.

3.2 Disclose the policy concerning trading in Company securities by 
directors, officers and employees.

3.3 Provide the information indicated in ‘Guide to Reporting on Principle 3’.

Adopted

and 
2.2
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Principles of Good Corporate Governance and 
Best Practice Recommendations

Action taken and reasons if not adopted

Have a structure in place to independently verify and safeguard the 
integrity of the Company’s financial reporting.

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

4.1 Require the chief executive officer (or equivalent) and the chief 
financial officer (or equivalent) to state in writing to the Board that the 
Company’s financial reports present a true and fair view, in all material 
respects, of the Company’s financial condition and operational results 
and are in accordance with relevant accounting standards.

4.2 The Board should establish an audit committee.

4.3 Structure the audit committee so that it consists of:

Only non-executive directors.•	
A majority of independent directors.•	
An independent chairperson who is not the chairperson of the Board.•	
At least three members.•	

4.4 The audit committee should have a formal operating charter.

4.5 Provide the information indicated in the ‘Guide to reporting on 
Principle 4.’

Adopted except as follows:

4.2 The Company has an Audit Committee comprising 
Non-Executive Director A Senior, and Executive Chairman 
D Waddell. The Board considers that the current structure 
is appropriate given the size of the Entity and the 
necessary skills and experience that the current Audit 
Committee members bring to these meetings.

Promote timely and balanced disclosure of all material matters 
concerning the Company.

Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure

5.1 Establish written policies and procedures designed to ensure 
compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and to ensure 
accountability at a senior management level for that compliance.

5.2 Provide the information indicated in the ‘Guide to reporting on 
Principle 5’.

Adopted

Respect the rights of shareholders and facilitate the effectiveness of 
those rights.

Principle 6: Respect the rights of shareholders

6.1 Design and disclose a communications strategy to promote 
effective communication with shareholders and encourage effective 
participation at general meetings.

6.2 Request the external auditor to attend the annual general meeting 
and be available to answer shareholder questions about the audit and 
the preparation and content of the auditor’s report.

Adopted

Establish a sound system of risk oversight and management and 
internal control.

Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk

7.1 The Board or appropriate Board committee should establish policies 
on risk oversight and management.

7.2 The chief executive officer (or equivalent) and the chief financial 
officer (or equivalent) should state to the Board in writing that:

the statement given in accordance with best practice •	
recommendation 4.1 (the integrity of financial statements) is 
founded on a sound system of risk management and internal 
compliance and control which implements the policies adopted by 
the Board; and

the Company’s risk management and internal compliance and •	
control system is operating efficiently and effectively in all material 
respects.

7.3 Provide the information indicated in the ‘Guide to reporting on 
Principle 7’.

Adopted

CORPORATE GOvERNANCE STATEMENT

and 
4.3:
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Principles of Good Corporate Governance and 
Best Practice Recommendations

Action taken and reasons if not adopted

Fairly review and actively encourage enhanced board and 
management effectiveness.

Principle 8: Encourage enhanced performance

8.1 Disclose the process for performance evaluation of the Board, its 
committees and individual directors, and key executives.

Adopted

Ensure that the level and composition of remuneration is sufficient 
and reasonable and that its relationship to corporate and individual 
performance is defined.

Principle 9: Remunerate fairly and responsibly

9.1 Provide disclosure in relation to the Company’s remuneration policies 
to enable investors to understand (i) the cost and benefits of these 
policies and (ii) the link between remuneration paid to directors and 
key executives and corporate performance.

9.2 The Board should establish a remuneration committee.

9.3 Clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive directors’ 
remuneration from that of executives.

9.4 Ensure that payment of equity-based executive remuneration is made 
in accordance with thresholds set in plans approved by shareholders.

Adopted except as follows:

9.1 As an emerging producer, it is not considered appropriate 
to link cash remuneration to corporate performance. 
However an incentive employee option scheme is in place 
for Executives.

9.2 A Remuneration and Nomination Committee was 
established 1 July 2005. It is currently made up of Non-
Executive Director A Senior and Executive Chairman D 
Waddell. 

Recognise the legal and other obligations of all legitimate stakeholders

Principle 10: Recognise the legitimate interest of stakeholders

10.1 Establish and disclose a code of conduct to guide compliance with  
legal and other obligations to legitimate stakeholders.

Adopted
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Consolidated Company

Note 2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Revenue 2 24,107,748 4,176,480 - 3,059,222

Mine costs 3 (31,843,269) (26,647,462) - -

Exploration and evaluation expenses 3 (2,742,606) (3,803,794) - -

Administration and corporate expenses (3,208,127) (3,244,156) (232,954) (29,233)

Impairment of Coyote Gold Project mine related assets 3 (20,383,919) (27,567,349) - -

Provision for non-recovery of loan to controlled entity 3 - - (33,780,855) (60,129,299)
Loss before tax and financing (34,070,173) (57,086,281) (34,013,809) (57,099,310)

Financial income 5 1,255,852 374,515 1,085,912 274,852

Financial expenses 5 (113,576) (112,865) - (173)
Loss before tax (32,927,897) (56,824,631) (32,927,897) (56,824,631)

Income tax benefit 6 341,976 515,600 341,976 515,600
Net loss for the year (32,585,921) (56,309,031) (32,585,921) (56,309,031)

Basic loss per share 26 (3.14 cents) (8.80 cents)

Diluted loss per share is not shown as all potential ordinary shares on issue would decrease the loss per share and are thus not 
considered dilutive.

The income statements are to be read in conjunction with 
the accompanying notes to the financial statements.

INCOME STATEMENTS
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
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BALANCE ShEETS
AS AT 30 JUNE 2008

Consolidated Company

Note 2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 8 2,668,944 10,176,576 2,526,375 10,043,342

Other receivables 9 2,214,058 1,073,943 - 528,067

Inventories 10 7,408,897 1,419,696 - -

Total current assets 12,291,899 12,670,215 2,526,375 10,571,409

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Other receivables 9 2,350,411 1,440,808 24,088,259 11,102,045

Other financial assets 11 - - 3,013,232 3,013,232

Property, plant and equipment 12 24,228,353 16,711,568 - -

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 13 2,269,083 1,775,503 - -

Total non-current assets 28,847,847 19,927,879 27,101,491 14,115,277

TOTAL ASSETS 41,139,746 32,598,094 29,627,866 24,686,686

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Interest-bearing liabilities 14 171,562 158,644 - -

Trade and other payables 15 8,899,764 6,020,969 - -

Provisions 16 579,554 567,417 - -

Total current liabilities 9,650,880 6,747,030 - -

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Interest-bearing liabilities 14 45,030 216,593 - -

Provisions 16 1,815,970 947,785 - -

Total Non-Current Liabilities 1,861,000 1,164,378 - -

TOTAL LIABILITIES 11,511,880 7,911,408 - -

NET ASSETS 29,627,866 24,686,686 29,627,866 24,686,686

EQUITY

Issued capital 17 172,382,390 135,074,879 172,382,390 135,074,879

Accumulated losses 18 (143,088,988) (110,503,067) (143,088,988) (110,503,067) 

Share based payment reserve 334,464 114,874 334,464 114,874

TOTAL EQUITY 29,627,866 24,686,686 29,627,866 24,686,686

The balance sheets are to be read in conjunction with 
the accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Issued 
Capital

$

Accumulated 
Losses

$

Share Based 
Payment 
Reserve

$

Total
$

Consolidated
At 1 July 2006 84,783,082 (54,194,036) 1,826,962 32,416,008

Recognised income and expense - (56,309,031) (1,740,021) (58,049,052)

Share based payments - - 27,933 27,933

Issue of share capital 50,291,797 - - 50,291,797

At 30 June 2007 135,074,879 (110,503,067) 114,874 24,686,686

At 1 July 2007 135,074,879 (110,503,067) 114,874 24,686,686

Recognised income and expense - (32,585,921) -  (32,585,921) 

Share based payments - - 219,590 219,590

Issue of share capital 37,307,511 - - 37,307,511

At 30 June 2008 172,382,390 (143,088,988) 334,464 29,627,866

Company
At 1 July 2006 84,783,082 (54,194,036) 1,826,962 32,416,008

Recognised income and expense - (56,309,031) (1,740,021) (58,049,052)

Share based payments - - 27,933 27,933

Issue of share capital 50,291,797 - - 50,291,797

At 30 June 2007 135,074,879 (110,503,067) 114,874 24,686,686

At 1 July 2007 135,074,879 (110,503,067) 114,874 24,686,686

Recognised income and expense - (32,585,921) -  (32,585,921) 

Share based payments - - 219,590 219,590

Issue of share capital 37,307,511 - - 37,307,511

At 30 June 2008 172,382,390 (143,088,988) 334,464 29,627,866

The statements of changes in equity are to be read in conjunction with 
the accompanying notes to the financial statements.

STATEMENT OF ChANGES IN EqUITy
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
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Consolidated Company

Note 2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash receipts from customers 24,095,327 288,109 - -

Cash payments in the course of operations (38,963,101) (30,483,621) (900) (1,300)

Cash payments for exploration expenditure (3,262,111) (4,390,343) - -

Cash payments for development expenditure (8,234,634) (543,023) - -

Interest received 1,177,606 368,775 1,085,914 274,852

Interest paid - (34,607) - (173)
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities 27(b) (25,186,913) (34,794,710) 1,085,014 273,379

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment (18,658,070) (21,367,782) - -

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 101,659 2,247,342 - -

Payments for exploration security deposits (875,898) 10,000 - -

Proceeds from sale of equity investments - 6,002,951 - 6,002,951

Loans to controlled entity - - (45,909,492) (54,157,882)
Net cash used in investing activities (19,432,309) (13,107,489) (45,909,492) (48,154,931)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net proceeds from issue of shares and options 37,307,511 50,291,797 37,307,511 50,291,797

Repayment of borrowings (195,921) (111,093) - -
Net cash provided by financing activities 37,111,590 50,180,704 37,307,511 50,291,797

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash 
equivalents held

(7,507,632) 2,278,505 (7,516,967) 2,410,245

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
financial year 10,176,576 7,898,071 10,043,342 7,633,097
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 27(a) 2,668,944 10,176,576 2,526,375 10,043,342

The cash flow statements are to be read in conjunction with 
the accompanying notes to the financial statements.

CASh FLOw STATEMENTS
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
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NOTES TO ThE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Reporting Entity 
Tanami Gold NL (“the Company”) is a company domiciled in Australia. The address of the Company’s registered office is Level 4, 50 Colin 
Street, West Perth, Western Australia 6005. The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 30 June 
2008 comprise the Company and its subsidiary (together referred to as the “Consolidated Entity”) and the Group’s interest in jointly 
controlled entities. The Consolidated Entity primarily is involved in gold mining operations and mineral exploration.

b) Basis of Preparation 

Statement of Compliance

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
(AASBs) (including Australian interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001.

The consolidated financial report of the Consolidated Entity and the Company also complies with the IFRSs and interpretations adopted by 
the International Accounting Standards Board. 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 30th September 2008.

Basis of Measurement 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following:

Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value•	

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value•	

Funding Requirement 

The Consolidated Entity has incurred a net loss for the year of $32,585,921 (2007: $56,309,031). At 30 June 2008 it had net working capital 
of $2,641,019 (2007: $5,923,185).

To enable the Company to progress the development and operation of the Coyote Gold Project through to positive cash flows being 
generated from production, the Company has arranged funding through entering into loan agreements with AP Finance Limited (of which 
the ultimate holding company is Allied Group Limited, an entity associated with Mr SH Lee, who is a Director of the Company) totalling 
HK$49.5 million (approximately A$7.74 million). The loan agreements have the following material terms and conditions:

The Company has paid the Lender a facility fee of HK$780,000 (approximately A$115,000) in respect of the first loan agreement and •	
HK$1,800,000 (approximately A$288,000) in respect of the second loan agreement which will be deducted from the first drawdown of 
the Loan;

Interest of 15% per annum will be payable on the amount outstanding on the Loan and is payable every 3 months in arrears. Interest •	
must be entirely paid by 30 September 2009;

The Company must repay the Loans in full by 30 September 2009 or at any time within 60 days of receipt of notice for repayment from •	
the Lender;

Advances that have been repaid or prepaid under the first loan agreement of HK$14.5 million (approximately A$2.15 million) may not be •	
redrawn; and

Advances that have been repaid or prepaid under the second loan agreement of HK$35 million (approximately A$5.59 million) may be •	
redrawn by the Company from time to time until 30 September 2009.

On 22 September 2008 the Company announced a fully underwritten pro-rata renounceable entitlements issue of 2,358,926,706 shares on 
the basis of two (2) shares for every one (1) share held at an issue price of 0.5 cents per share to raise approximately $11.01 million (net of 
costs). The issue is underwritten by Allied Properties Resources Limited and the underwriting agreement contains standard market volatility 
conditions which if triggered permits the underwriter to withdraw the underwriting. 

The ultimate holding company of Allied Properties Resources Limited is Allied Group Limited, an entity in which Mr SH Lee (together with 
others as trustees of the Lee and Lee Trust) has an interest of 43.64%. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Going concern basis of preparation
The going concern basis of preparation has been adopted.

Based upon the Loan Agreements that have been put in place post 30 June 2008, and the fully underwritten pro-rata entitlements issue 
currently being completed to raise $11.01 million (net of costs) and the forecast return to positive cash flows from operations, the directors 
consider there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable 
and therefore the going concern basis of preparation remains appropriate.

Given the terms and conditions of the loan facilities and the underwriting agreement, there is uncertainty regarding debt and equity 
funding arrangements that are in place. In the event of default and demand for repayments under the loan facilities and/or the entitlements 
issue is not successfully completed and if forecast positive cash flows from the operation of the Coyote Gold Project are delayed or fail to 
eventuate, the Company may need to defer development and operation of the Project as currently planned or may not be able to continue 
as a going concern. Accordingly, the Company may be required to realise assets and extinguish liabilities other than in the normal course of 
business and at amounts different to those stated in the financial report.

Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency and the functional 
currency of the Consolidated Entity. 

Use of estimates and judgements 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application 
of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

Judgements made by management in the application of the Australian Accounting Standards that have significant effect on the financial 
report and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in note 1(y).

The following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been identified as those which may impact the entity in the 
period of initial application. They are available for early adoption at 30 June 2008, but have not been applied in preparing this financial report: 

AASB 8 •	 Operating Segments introduces the “management approach” to segment reporting. AASB 8, which becomes mandatory for 
the Group’s 30 June 2010 financial statements, will require the disclosure of segment information based on the internal reports regularly 
reviewed by the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker in order to assess each segment’s performance and to allocate resources to 
them. Under the management approach, the Group will present segment information in respect of Underground Mining, Surface Mining, 
Processing, Geology, Occupational, Health and Safety, Site Administration, and Head Office Administration. 

Revised AASB 101 •	 Presentation of Financial Statements introduces as a financial statement (formerly “primary” statement) the 
“statement of comprehensive income”. The revised standard does not change the recognition, measurement or disclosure of transactions 
and events that are required by other AASBs. The revised AASB 101 will become mandatory for the Group’s 30 June 2010 financial 
statements. The Group has not yet determined the potential effect of the revised standard on the Group’s disclosures.

Revised AASB 123 •	 Borrowing Costs removes the option to expense borrowing costs and requires that an entity capitalise borrowing 
costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. The revised 
AASB123 will become mandatory for the Group’s 30 June 2010 financial statements and will constitute a change in accounting policy 
for the Group. In accordance with the transitional provisions the Group will apply the revised AASB 123 to qualifying assets for which 
capitalisation of borrowing costs commences on or after the effective date. The Group has not yet determined the potential effect of the 
revised standard on future earnings. 

Revised AASB 127 •	 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements changes the accounting for investments in subsidiaries. Key changes 
include: the remeasurement to fair value of any previous/retained investment when control is obtained/lost, with any resulting gain or 
loss being recognised in profit or loss; and the treatment of increases in ownership interest after control is obtained as transactions with 
equity holders in their capacity as equity holders. The revised standard will become mandatory for the Group’s 30 June 2010 financial 
statements. The Group has not yet determined the potential effect of the revised standard on the Group’s financial report. 

AASB 2008-1 •	 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard – Share-based Payment: Vesting Conditions and Cancellations changes the 
measurement of share-based payments that contain non-vesting conditions. AASB 2008-1 becomes mandatory for the Group’s 30 June 
2010 financial statements. The Group has not yet determined the potential effect of the amending standard on the Group’s financial report.

Significant Accounting Policies 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements, and 
have been applied consistently by the Consolidated Group.

c) Basis of Consolidation 

(i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the 
financial and operating policies of a Company so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that 
presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have 
been changed where necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(ii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intragroup balances, and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in 
preparing the consolidated financial statements.

(iii) Jointly controlled operations and assets

The interest of the Group in unincorporated joint ventures and jointly controlled assets are brought to account by recognising in its financial 
statements the assets it controls, the liabilities that it incurs, the expenses it incurs and its share of income that it earns from the sale of 
goods or services by the joint venture.

d) Property, Plant and Equipment 
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of property, 
plant and equipment at 1 July 2004, the date of transition to AASBs, was determined by reference to its fair value at that date.

All such assets, except freehold land, are depreciated over their estimated useful lives on a straight line, reducing balance or production 
output basis, as considered appropriate, commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the 
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are recognised net within “other income” in profit or loss. When revalued assets are 
sold, the amounts included in the revaluation reserve are transferred to retained earnings.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant 
and equipment. 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Major depreciation periods are: 2008 2007
Buildings 2.5% 2.5%

Plant and equipment 15–33% 15–33%

Motor vehicles 13-25% 13-25%

Furniture and fittings 7.5-40% 7.5-40%

Mine properties Units of production Units of production

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the reporting date.

(i) Useful lives

Mine assets are depreciated or amortised over the lower of their estimated useful lives and the estimated remaining life of the mine. The 
estimated remaining life of the mine is based upon geological resources. Assets not linked to the mining operation are depreciated over 
their estimated useful lives.

(ii) Mine properties and development

Mine property assets include costs transferred from exploration and evaluation assets once technical feasibility and commercial viability 
of an area of interest are demonstrable and subsequent costs to develop the mine to the production phase. These include expenditure 
incurred by the Consolidated Entity in the current and previous reporting periods. The expenditure was individually allocated to identified ore 
bodies on the mining lease. The assets relating to each ore body are separately amortised from the date mining commences.

(iii) Amortisation

Amortisation is charged to the income statement, except to the extent that it is included in the carrying amount of another asset as an 
allocation of production overheads.

Mine properties in production are amortised on a units of production basis over economically recoverable resources.

Amortisation is not charged on costs carried forward in respect of interest in the development phase until commercial production 
commences.

e) Exploration and Evaluation
In accordance with AASB 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources, exploration costs are accumulated in respect of each 
separate area of interest. Exploration costs are carried forward at cost where the rights of tenure are current and:

(i) Such costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploration of the area of interest, or alternatively by its 
sale; or

(ii) Exploration activities in the area have not yet reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of 
economically recoverable resources.

Exploration and evaluation assets will be assessed annually for impairment in accordance with AASB 6, and where impairment indicators 
exist, recoverable amounts of these assets will be estimated based on discounted cash flows from their associated cash generating units. 
This income statement will recognise expenses arising from the excess of the carrying values of exploration and evaluation assets over the 
recoverable amounts of the assets.

In the event that an area of interest is abandoned or if the Directors consider the expenditure to be of reduced value, accumulated costs 
carried forward are written off in the period in which that assessment is made. Each area of interest is reviewed at the end of each 
accounting period and accumulated costs are written off to the extent that they will not be recoverable in the future.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Mining Properties in Production or Under Development

Mining properties in production (including exploration, evaluation and development expenditure) are accumulated and brought to account 
at cost less accumulated amortisation in respect of each identifiable area of interest. Amortisation of capitalised costs is provided on 
the production output basis, proportional to the depletion of the mineral resource of each area of interest expected to be ultimately 
economically recoverable.

f) Acquisition of Assets
Assets acquired are recognised at cost. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given up, shares issued or liabilities undertaken at 
the date of acquisition plus incidental costs directly attributable to the acquisition. When equity instruments are issued as consideration, 
their market price at the date of acquisition is used as fair value. Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised 
directly in equity.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable are recorded at their present value, discounted at the 
rate applicable to the Company if a similar borrowing were obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.

Costs incurred on assets subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefits in excess of 
the original performance of the asset will flow to the Company in future years. Costs that do not meet the criteria for capitalisation are 
expended as incurred.

g) Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Consolidated Entity’s assets, other than inventories, exploration and evaluation and deferred tax assets are 
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates 
cash flows that are largely independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment 
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units 
and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows from 
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit”).

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no 
longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

h) Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Consolidated Entity has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 
measured reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined 
by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the liability.

(i) Mine rehabilitation

Provisions are made for the estimated cost of rehabilitation relating to areas disturbed during the mine’s operation up to reporting date but 
not yet rehabilitated. Provision has been made in full for all disturbed areas at the reporting date based on current estimates of costs to 
rehabilitate such areas, discounted to their present value based on expected future cash flows. The estimated cost of rehabilitation includes 
the current cost of recontouring, topsoiling and revegetation, employing legislative requirements. Changes in estimates are dealt with on a 
prospective basis as they arise.

Significant uncertainty exists as to the amount of rehabilitation obligations which will be incurred due to the impact of changes in environmental 
legislation. The amount of the provision relating to rehabilitation of mine infrastructure and dismantling obligations is recognised at the 
commencement of the mining project and/or construction of the assets where a legal or constructive obligation exists at that time. The 
provision is recognised as a non-current liability with a corresponding asset included in property, plant and equipment.

At each reporting date the rehabilitation liability is re-measured in line with changes in discount rates and timing or amount of costs to be 
incurred. Changes in the liability relating to rehabilitation of mine infrastructure and dismantling obligations are added to or deducted from the 
related asset, other than the unwinding of the discount which is recognised as a finance cost in the income statement as it occurs.

If the change in liability results in a decrease in the liability that exceeds the carrying amount of the asset, the asset is written-down to nil and 
the excess is recognised immediately in the income statement. If the change in the liability results in an addition to the cost of the asset, the 
recoverability of the new carrying amount is considered. Where there is an indication that the new carrying amount is not fully recoverable, an 
impairment test is performed with the write-down recognised in the income statement in the period in which it occurs.

The amount of the provision relating to rehabilitation of environmental disturbance caused by ongoing production and extraction activities is 
recognised in the income statement as incurred. Changes in the liability are charged to the income statement as rehabilitation expense, other 
than the unwinding of the discount which is recognised as a finance cost.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

i) Expenses

(i) Operating lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease 
incentives received are recognised in the income statement as an integral part of the total lease expense and spread over the lease term.

(ii) Finance lease payments

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated 
to each reporting period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

(iii) Net financing costs

Net financing costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest method, finance establishment cost 
amortisation, discount unwind, interest receivable on funds invested, foreign exchange gains and losses, and gains and losses on hedging 
instruments that are recognised in the income statement.

Interest income is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, using the effective interest method. The interest expense component 
of finance lease payments is recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method.

j) Inventories
Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises 
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on the 
basis of normal operating capacity. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated 
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted average costs. Cost includes direct material, overburden 
removal, mining, processing, labour related transportation cost to the point of sale, mine rehabilitation costs incurred in the extraction 
process and other fixed and variable costs directly related to mining activities.

k) Investments
All investments are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given and including acquisition charges associated 
with the investment.

After initial recognition, investments, which are classified as held for trading and available-for-sale, are measured at fair value. Gains or 
losses on investments held for trading are recognised in the income statement.

Gains or losses on available-for-sale investments are recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment is sold, collected or 
otherwise disposed of, or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported 
in equity is included in the income statement.

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held-to-maturity when the 
Consolidated Entity has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Investments intended to be held for an undefined period are 
not included in this classification.

Other long-term investments that are intended to be held-to-maturing, such as bonds, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition, over the period to maturity.

For investments carried at amortised cost, gains and losses are recognised in income when the investments are derecognised or impaired, 
as well as through the amortisation process.

For investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets, fair value is determined by reference to Stock Exchange quoted market bid 
prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date.

For investments where there is not a quoted market price, fair value is determined by reference to the current market value of another instrument 
which is substantially the same or is calculated based on the expected cash flows of the underlying net asset base of the investment.

l) Other receivables
Other receivables are initially recorded at the amount of contracted sales proceeds and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

Receivables from related entities are recognised and carried at the nominal amount due. Where these receivables are interest bearing, 
interest is taken up as income on an accruals basis.

m) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and short-term deposits in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of 
three months or less. 

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

n) Interest-bearing liabilities
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs associated with 
the borrowing.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs, and any discounts or premium on settlement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised and as well as through the amortisation process.

o) Employee benefits

Short-term benefits

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries, annual leave and current portion of long service leave represent present obligations 
resulting from employees’ services provided to reporting date and are calculated at undiscounted amounts based on remuneration wage 
and salary rates that the Consolidated Entity expects to pay as at reporting date including related on-costs, such as workers compensation 
insurance and payroll tax. 

No provision is made for non-vesting sick leave as the anticipated pattern of future sick leave taken indicates that accumulated non-vesting 
leave will never be paid.

Other long-term benefits

The Consolidated Entity’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that employees have 
earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods plus related on-costs. Provision for annual leave and the current portion of 
long service leave together with the associated employment on-costs are measured at their nominal amounts based on remuneration rates 
expected to be paid when the liability is settled. The non-current portions of long service leave and its associated employment on-costs are 
measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows. 

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will 
have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as 
a personnel expense in profit or loss when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund 
or a reduction in future payments is available. 

Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed as incurred.

p) Share-based payment transactions
The share options plan allows employees to acquire shares of the Company. The grant date fair value of options granted to employees 
is recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the employees become 
unconditionally entitled to the options. The amount recognised is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest, except for 
those that fail to vest due to market conditions not being met.

When the Company grants options over its shares to employees of subsidiaries, the fair value at grant date is recognised as an increase in 
the investments in subsidiaries, with a corresponding increase in equity over the vesting period of the grant.

q) Leases
Finance leases, which transfer to the Company substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised 
at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.

Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest 
on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly against income.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Initial 
direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease 
term on the same bases as the lease income.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

r) Revenue

Goods sold

Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns and allowances. 
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, recovery of consideration is 
probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be measured reliably, and there is no continuing management involvement 
with the goods.

Interest

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues (using the effective interest method, which is the rate that discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset).
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

s) Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it 
relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following 
temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly 
controlled entities to the extent that they probably will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and 
assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they 
intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on the net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which temporary 
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Tax Consolidation

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities have formed a tax-consolidated group with effect from 1 July 2002 and are 
therefore taxed as a single entity from that date. The head entity within the tax-consolidated group is Tanami Gold NL.

Current tax expense/income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences of the members of the tax-
consolidated group are recognised in the separate financial statements of the members of the tax-consolidated group using the ‘separate 
taxpayer within group’ approach by reference to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the separate financial statements of each 
entity and the tax values applying under tax consolidation.

Any current tax liabilities (or assets) and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses of the subsidiaries is assumed by the head 
entity in the tax-consolidated group and are recognised by the company as amounts payable (receivable) to (from) other entities in the tax-
consolidated group in conjunction with any tax funding arrangement amounts. Any difference between these amounts is recognised by the 
Company as an equity contribution or distribution.

The Company recognises deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses of the tax-consolidated group to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profits of the tax-consolidated group will be available against which the asset can be utilised.

Any subsequent period adjustments to deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses as a result of revised assessments of the 
probability of recoverability is recognised by the head entity only.

t) Goods and services tax
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
the asset or part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is 
included as a current asset or liability in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing and 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.

u) Issued capital
Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the Company. Any transaction costs arising on the 
issue of ordinary shares are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the proceeds received.

v) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated at their amortised cost. Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 
30-day terms.

w) Loss per share
The Consolidated Entity presents basic loss per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss 
attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. 

x) Segment reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Consolidated Entity that is engaged either in providing related products or services 
(business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical segment), which is 
subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments. The Consolidated Entity operates in Western Australia and the 
Northern Territory, in the gold mining and exploration industry.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

y) Accounting estimates and judgements
Management discussed with the Audit Committee the development, selection and disclosure of the Consolidated Entity’s critical 
accounting policies and estimates and the application of these policies and estimates. The estimates and judgements that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

(i) Mine rehabilitation and site restoration provision

The Consolidated Entity assesses its mine rehabilitation and site restoration provision at each balance date in accordance with accounting 
policy (i). Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for mine rehabilitation and site restoration as there are many 
transactions and other factors that will affect the ultimate liability payable to rehabilitate and restore the mine sites and related assets. 
Factors that will affect this liability include future development, changes in technology, price increases and changes in interest rates. When 
these factors change or become known in the future, such differences will impact the site restoration provision and asset in the period in 
which they change or become known.

(ii) Units of production method of amortisation

The Consolidated Entity amortises mine properties in production on a units of production basis over the economically recoverable tonnes. 
These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. Significant judgement is required in assessing the available reserves and 
resources under this method. Factors that must be considered in determining reserves and resources are the complexity of metallurgy, 
product prices, foreign exchange rates, cost structures and future developments. When these factors change or become known in the 
future, such differences will impact amortisation expense and the carrying value of mine property assets.

(iii) Impairment

In accordance with accounting policy note 1(g), the Consolidated Entity, in determining whether the recoverable amount of its cash 
generating unit is the higher of fair value less costs to sell or value-in-use against which asset impairment is to be considered, undertakes 
future cash flow calculations which are based on a number of critical estimates and assumptions including, for its mine properties, forward 
estimates of:

mine life, including quantities of mineral reserves and resources for which there is a high degree of confidence of economic extraction •	
with given technology;

production levels and demand;•	

metal price;•	

inflation;•	

cash costs of production; and•	

discount rates applicable to the cash generating unit.•	

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

2. REvENUE 
Gold sales 23,612,100 - - -

Other income 408,638 156,476 - -

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 87,010 960,782 - -

Gain on disposal of investments - 3,059,222 - 3,059,222

24,107,748 4,176,480 - 3,059,222

3.LOSS BEFORE TAX 
Loss before income tax benefit has been arrived at after:

Depreciation - plant and equipment 1,508,395 723,545 - -

1,508,395 723,545 - -

Provision for employee entitlements 12,138 54,307 - -

Occupancy costs 231,061 303,907 - -

Impairment of Coyote Gold Project mine related assets (i) 20,383,919 27,567,349 - -

Mine Costs (ii) 31,843,269 26,647,462 - -

Exploration expenditure written off (iii) 2,742,606 3,803,794 - -

Provision for non-recovery of loan to controlled entity (iv) - - 33,780,855 60,129,299
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3. LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued)
(i) During the year, the Company experienced cost increases and delays in the development of the Coyote Gold Project including issues 

relating to plant design and construction, open pit mining dilution/recoveries at Bald Hill and underground decline development. These 
project development delays also resulted in reduced gold production and revenues.

 Given the material adverse impact of the cost increases, reduced revenue and project development delays, the directors have 
determined that it is appropriate to recognise an impairment charge of $20,383,919 against the Coyote Gold Project.

As at 30 June 2008 the carrying value of Coyote Gold Project assets is:

Property, plant and equipment 13,696,758 

Mine development 10,531,595

24,228,353 

 The discount rate used in the calculation of the impairment charge for the year ended 30 June 2008 was 12% (2007: 8%).

 The written down carrying amount as determined by the Directors is derived from a discounted operation cash flow model (based upon 
the value in use method) which used an assessment of the reserves and resources and also recognises that further drilling is required 
to convert resources to reserves as the Project develops. 

(ii) Mine costs relate to the development of the Coyote Gold Project including open pit mining costs which have resulted in the Coyote 
open pit being mined to approximately sixty metres depth being the level at which the underground portal has been established at 
as the start of the underground decline which is being developed to gain access to the high grade underground ore. Mine costs also 
include treatment plant commissioning, modification and ore processing costs. 

(iii) The ultimate recoupment of exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependant upon successful development and commercial 
exploitation, or alternatively, sales of the respective areas. During the year the Company expensed expenditure totalling $2,742,606 
(2007: $3,803,794).

(iv) The provision for non-recovery of loan to controlled entity arose from the loss incurred for the financial year.

4. PERSONNEL EXPENSES 

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Wages and salaries 7,148,104 4,907,445 - -

Superannuation costs 583,420 392,309 - -

(Decrease)/Increase in liability for annual leave 19,822 (3,966) - -

Share based payments 219,590 27,933 219,590 27,933

Total Personnel Expenses 7,970,936 5,323,721 219,590 27,933

Less: Capitalised to exploration and evaluation assets (1,210,784) (1,288,997) - -

6,760,152  4,034,725 219,590 27,933

5. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSE 

Interest income 1,255,852 374,515 1,085,912 274,852

Borrowing costs:

Interest - borrowings (37,275) (34,607) - (173)

Unwind of discount on site restoration provision (76,301) (78,258) - -

Finance expense (113,576) (112,865) - (173)
Net Finance Income and Expense 1,142,276 261,650 1,085,912 274,679

6. TAXATION 

Major components of income tax expense are as follows:
Income Statement

Current income tax expense/(benefit)

Current income tax charge (11,337,993) (10,197,116) 321,641 117,387

Income tax expense not recognised due to availability of group revenue 
tax losses -

(321,641) (117,387)

Prior year adjustment (341,976) (2,012,580) (341,976) (2,012,580)
Deferred income tax expense

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 1,323,188 (7,450,063) 124 1,947

Deferred tax assets not recognised in the current period 10,014,805 19,144,159 (124) 1,495,033

Income tax benefit reported in income statement (i)  (341,976) (515,600) (341,976) (515,600)

(i) Income tax benefit reported on the income statement of $341,976 (2007: $515,600) relates to a tax benefit receivable for research 
and development. 
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6. TAXATION (continued)

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Statement of Changes in Equity

Current income tax

Capital raising costs (391,760) (268,446) (391,760) (268,446)

Income tax benefit/(expense) in equity (391,760) (268,446) (391,760) (268,446)

Income tax benefit/(expense) not recognised 391,760 268,446 391,760 268,446

- - - -

The components of recognised deferred tax balances are as follows:

CONSOLIDATED
Deferred tax liabilities

Interest receivable - - - -

Mine development 947,112 3,217,570 - -

Exploration 680,725 532,651 - -

Property, plant and equipment 23,745 - - -

Financial assets - - - -

Consumables 777,282 224,624 - -

Deferred tax asset offset against deferred tax liability (2,428,864) (3,974,845) - -

Gross deferred income tax liabilities - - - -

Deferred tax assets

Provisions 718,658 454,561 - -

Accruals 40,599 38,182 - -

Property, plant and equipment 1,669,607 3,482,102 - -

Capital raising costs - - - -

Tax losses - - - -

Deferred tax asset offset against deferred tax liability (2,428,864) (3,974,845) - -

Gross deferred income tax assets - - - -

Reconciliation to income tax benefit on Accounting loss

Loss before income tax (32,927,897) (56,824,631) (32,927,897) (56,824,631)

Prima facie tax payable at the statutory income tax rate (9,878,370) (17,047,389) (9,878,370) (17,047,389)

Non-deductible expenses

Prior period adjustment (203,572) (1,496,980) - (1,765,426)

Sundry non-deductible expenditure - - - -

Provision for non-recovery - - 10,134,257 18,038,789

Share based payments 65,877 8,380 65,877 8,380

Disposal of Deep Yellow shares - (612,000) - (612,000)

Other 1,259 3,830 - -

Deferred tax assets not recognised 10,014,805 19,144,159 (321,765) 1,377,646

Prior year research and development offset (341,976) (515,600) (341,976) (515,600)

Income tax benefit (341,976) (515,600) (341,976) (515,600)

Deferred tax asset (30%) not recognised arising on:

Tax losses 39,008,684 27,278,931 39,008,684 27,278,931

Temporary differences 4,824,409 7,516,446 44,949,563 16,798,431

43,833,093 34,795,377 83,958,247 44,077,362

7. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Amounts received, or due and receivable, by the auditor - KPMG - for:

Audit and review of the financial statements 85,000 115,983 85,000 115,983

Audit of Exploration Licence - 2,750 - -

Advice on auction of contributing shares - 3,410 - 3,410

Advice in relation to forensic research - 59,902 - -

85,000 182,045 85,000 119,393
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8. CASh AND CASh EqUIvALENTS

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Cash at bank and on hand 158,293 233,054 15,724 99,820

Bank short term deposits 2,510,651 9,943,522 2,510,651 9,943,522

2,668,944 10,176,576 2,526,375 10,043,342

Bank short term deposit is an “at call” account earning 7.1% interest (2007: 6.1%).

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in note 29

9. OThER RECEIvABLES

Current

GST receivable 1,187,694 424,079 - -

Prepayments 152,431 106,109 - -

Other debtors 805,402 538,015 - 528,067

Interest receivable 68,531 5,740 - -

2,214,058 1,073,943 - 528,067

Non-Current

Other debtors (a) 2,350,411 1,440,808 - -

Loan to controlled entity (b) - - 173,914,495 127,147,426

Provision for non-recovery of loan - - (149,826,236) (116,045,381)

2,350,411 1,440,808 24,088,259 11,102,045

(a) Non-current other debtors represent term deposits placed in support of environmental performance bonds lodged with the Department 
of Industry and Resources. (NT) $46,250 (2007: $25,500), the Minister for State Development (WA) $2,190,000 (2007: $1,321,001), and 
$114,161(2007: $94,307) held as a rent bond for the Corporate office.

(b) The loan to the controlled entity is unsecured, interest free and repayable at call but the Company does not intend to recall the loan 
over the next 12 months. The loan is provided to fund exploration and development expenditure by the controlled entity. Accordingly, the 
ultimate recoupment of the loan and the investment in the controlled entity (refer Note 11) is dependent upon successful development 
and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas of interest.

The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks are disclosed in note 29.

10. INvENTORIES

Current

Stockpile – at net realisable value 172,388 - - -

Raw materials and stores – at cost 2,590,941 762,098 - -

Gold in circuit – at net realisable value 710,642 181,548 - -

Bullion – at net realisable value 3,921,167 476,050 - -

Other 13,759 - - -

7,408,897 1,419,696 - -

11. OThER INvESTMENTS

Non-current

Shares in controlled entity - at cost (a) - - 3,085,938 3,085,938

Less provision for diminution in value - - (72,706) (72,706)

- - 3,013,232 3,013,232

Class of
Shares

Beneficial
Interest

2008
$

2007
$

(a) Shares in controlled entity

Tanami Exploration NL

(Incorporated in WA) Ordinary 100% 3,013,232 3,013,232
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12. PROPERTy, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Buildings at cost 7,732,606 1,552,065 - -

Less: accumulated depreciation (220,828) (259,134) - -

Less: impairment (3,134,004) - - -

4,377,774 1,292,931 - -

Plant and equipment at cost 33,737,292 21,225,010 - -

Less: accumulated depreciation (1,389,689) (569,560) - -

Less: accumulated impairment (24,578,572) (19,647,658) - -

7,769,031 1,007,792 - -

Motor vehicle at cost 1,158,769 715,101 - -

Less: accumulated depreciation (508,163) (424,543) - -

650,606 290,558 - -

Furniture and fittings at cost 962,116 812,676 - -

Less: accumulated depreciation (537,271) (402,893) - -

424,845 409,783

Capital works in progress 474,502 3,180,954 - -

Mine development costs 10,531,595 10,529,550 - -

Total property, plant and equipment 24,228,353 16,711,568 - -

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are set out below:
Buildings 

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 1,292,931 84,480 - -

Additions 6,253,351 1,462,065 - -

Depreciation (34,504) (253,614) - -

Impairment (3,134,004) - - -

Carrying amount at end of financial year 4,377,774 1,292,931 - -

Plant and equipment 

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 1,007,792 1,234,882 - -

Additions 12,868,054 20,379,006 - -

Disposals (1,226) (800,000) - -

Accumulated depreciation on disposals 1,226 - - -

Depreciation (1,175,901) (158,438) - -

Impairment (4,930,914) (19,647,658) - -

Carrying amount at end of financial year 7,769,031 1,007,792 - -

Motor vehicles 

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 290,558 298,917 - -

Additions 450,668 109,561 - -

Disposals (7,000) (13,000) - -

Accumulated depreciation on disposals 2,021 11,440 - -

Depreciation (85,641) (116,360) - -

Carrying amount at end of financial year 650,606 290,558 - -

Furniture and fittings 

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 409,783 196,753 - -

Additions 229,605 408,163 - -

Disposals (80,166) - - -

Accumulated depreciation on disposals 77,972 - - -

Depreciation (212,349) (195,133) - -

Carrying amount at end of financial year 424,845 409,783 - -
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Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Mine development 

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 10,529,550 12,046,650 - -

Additions 10,600,258 543,023 - -

Impairment (10,598,213) (2,060,123) - -

Carrying amount at end of financial year 10,531,595 10,529,550 - -

Capital works in progress

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 3,180,954 16,664,198 - -

Additions 10,878,711 11,589,901 - -

Transferred to fixed assets (11,864,375) (21,777,047) - -

Impairment (1,720,788) (3,296,098) - -

Carrying amount at end of financial year 474,502 3,180,954 - -

Total property plant and equipment 

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 16,711,568 30,525,880 - -

Additions 29,416,272 12,714,672 - -

Disposals (88,392) (813,000) - -

Accumulated depreciation on disposals 81,219 11,440 - -

Depreciation (1,508,395) (723,545) - -

Impairment (20,383,919) (25,003,879) - -

Carrying amount at end of financial year 24,228,353 16,711,568 - -

13. EXPLORATION AND EvALUATION EXPENDITURE

Exploration and evaluation costs carried forward in respect of areas of 
interest (net of amounts written off) (a)

2,269,083 1,775,503 - -

(a) Reconciliation

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 1,775,503 891,765 - -

Expenditure during the period 3,236,186 4,687,532 - -

Expenditure written off (2,742,606) (3,803,794) - -

2,269,083 1,775,503 - -

(a) The ultimate recoupment of exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent upon successful development and commercial 
exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas. During the year the Company expensed costs totalling $2,742,606 (2007: 
$3,803,794).

14. LOANS AND BORROwINGS

Current 

Finance lease liabilities 171,562 158,644 - -

171,562 158,644 - -

Non-Current

Finance lease liabilities 45,030 216,593 - -

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

Face Value Carrying 
Amount

Face Value Carrying 
Amount

Finance lease liability 228,106 216,592 410,591 375,237

The finance lease liability is denominated in Australian dollars with a nominal interest rate of 7.85% and will mature in 2009. 

12. PROPERTy, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT (continued)
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15. TRADE AND OThER PAyABLES

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Current 

Trade creditors 4,281,594 4,810,598 - -

Other creditors and accruals 4,618,170 1,210,371 - -

8,899,764 6,020,969 - -

The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in note 29.

16. PROvISIONS

Current

Employee entitlements 579,554 567,417 - -

579,554 567,417 - -

The controlled entity had 54 equivalent full time employees as at 30 June 2008 (2007: 41)

Non-Current

Site and mine restoration 1,815,970 947,785 - -

Annual Leave

Annual leave that is expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date represent present obligations resulting from employees’ 
services provided to reporting date and are calculated at undiscounted amounts based on remuneration wage and salary rates that the 
Consolidated Entity expects to pay as at reporting date including related on-costs, such as workers compensation insurance and payroll tax.

Site and mine restoration

In accordance with the Consolidated Entity’s environmental policy and applicable legal requirements, a provision for site restoration and 
mine rehabilitation is recognised when the land is disturbed. The basis of accounting is set out in note 1(h)(i) of the significant policies. The 
increase during the year represents the unwinding of the discount rate of interest. 

Long service leave

Long service leave that is due and payable is disclosed as a current employee provision. A provision is recognised in the accounts based on 
weighted probabilities that the necessary service levels are attained.

17. ISSUED CAPITAL

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Share capital

1,179,463,353 (2007: 799,463,353) ordinary shares, fully paid 172,382,390 135,074,879 172,382,390 135,074,879

172,382,390 135,074,879 172,382,390 135,074,879

Movements in issued capital

Balance at beginning of year 135,074,879 84,783,082 135,074,879 84,783,082

Shares issued 

- 380,000,000 (2007: 311,574,451) shares issued for cash 39,500,000 52,423,130 39,500,000 52,423,130

- Transaction costs arising from issues for cash (2,192,489) (2,131,333) (2,192,489) (2,131,333)

Balance at end of year 172,382,390 135,074,879 172,382,390 135,074,879

Shares issued for cash during the year

In July 2007 the Company issued 50,000,000 ordinary fully paid shares at an issue price of $0.13 per share to raise $6,500,000.•	

In November 2007 the Company issued 125,400,000 ordinary fully paid shares at an issue price of $0.10 per share to raise $12,540,000.•	

In December 2007 the Company issued 204,600,000 ordinary fully paid shares at an issue price of $0.10 per share to raise $20,460,000.•	

Terms and conditions of ordinary shares

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends that are declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at 
shareholders’ meetings. In the event of a winding up of the Company, ordinary shareholders rank after creditors.
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17. ISSUED CAPITAL (continued)
Options

During the year the following options were issued: 

Exercise Price ($) Number of Options Grant Date Expiry Date

$0.20 5,000,000 18 July 2007 18 July 2012

$0.20 1,750,000 23 November 2007 22 November 2012

$0.15 5,000,000 18 July 2007 18 July 2012

$0.15 200,000 30 July 2007 31 March 2012

$0.15 150,000 1 August 2007 31 March 2012

$0.15 300,000 5 October 2007 31 March 2012

$0.15 1,750,000 23 November 2007 22 November 2012

14,150,000

During the year the following options were forfeited: 

Exercise Price ($) Number of Options Grant Date Expiry Date

$0.20 1,500,000 27 November 2003 27 November 2008

$0.225 18,750,000 20 October 2004 20 October 2009

$0.225 100,000 22 November 2005 22 November 2009

$0.18 950,000 1 December 2005 22 November 2009

$0.15 500,000 30 April 2007 31 March 2012

21,800,000

At the end of the year there were 32,100,000 unissued ordinary shares in respect of which unquoted options were outstanding as follows:

Expiry Date Type Exercise Price 2008
Number

2007
Number

27 November 2008 Unquoted $0.20 - 1,500,000

20 October 2009 Unquoted $0.225 15,000,000 33,750,000

22 November 2009 Unquoted $0.225 450,000 450,000

22 November 2009 Unquoted $0.18 1,250,000 1,250,000

31 March 2012 Unquoted $0.15 1,900,000 1,550,000

18 July 2012 Unquoted $0.20 5,000,000 -

18 July 2012 Unquoted $0.15 5,000,000 -

22 November 2012 Unquoted $0.20 1,750,000 -

22 November 2012 Unquoted $0.15 1,750,000 -

32,100,000 38,500,000

18. ACCUMULATED LOSSES

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Accumulated losses at the beginning of the year (110,503,067) (54,194,036) (110,503,067) (54,194,036)
Net loss for year (32,585,921) (56,309,031) (32,585,921) (56,309,031)
Accumulated losses at the end of the year (143,088,988) (110,503,067) (143,088,988) (110,503,067) 
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19. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

(a) Department of Industry & Resources
Performance Bonds totalling $1,967,000 (2007: $1,321,001) have been granted in favour of the Minister for State Development in the form 
of term deposits and cash deposits. Security given by the parent entity for these bonds is a right of indemnification from term deposits 
totalling $1,967,000 (2007: $1,321,001) which is included in Note 9.

(b) Financial Support of Controlled Entity
The Company has agreed to financially support its controlled entity Tanami Exploration NL.

(c) Claims of Native Title
On 20 April 2005 the Company entered into the Tjurabalan Native Title Coyote Gold Project Agreement which enabled the Coyote Gold 
Project to be developed. Central to the Agreement is a commitment to employment, training and business development opportunities for 
the Tjurabalan People. Importantly, the Tjurabalan People’s interests and benefits payable by the Company are aligned with gold production 
levels achieved by the Company from the Project.

The Company has entered into several Deeds for Exploration with different traditional owner groups and the Central Land Council in relation 
to tenements held in the Northern Territory. Such agreements provide for exploration to be undertaken on Aboriginal Land Trust areas 
subject to certain conditions being met including approved clearance surveys over areas to be explored.

Several of the Company’s tenements in the Northern Territory are subject to the procedures of the Native Title Act 1993.

20. COMMITMENTS

(a) Exploration Expenditure 
The Consolidated Entity has certain obligations to perform minimum exploration work on mineral leases held. These obligations may vary 
over time, depending on the Consolidated Entity’s exploration program and priorities. These obligations are also subject to variations by 
negotiation, joint venturing or relinquishing some of the relevant tenements. As at balance date, total exploration expenditure commitments 
of the Consolidated Entity which have not been provided for in the financial statements and which are discretionary amount to $2,621,085 
per annum (2007: $2,585,910). The Consolidated Entity’s tenement commitment can be reduced by obtaining expenditure exemptions and/
or relinquishment of tenements.

(b) Financial support to subsidiary
Tanami Gold has provided an undertaking to continue providing financial support to its controlled entity, Tanami Exploration NL.

(c) Contracts - key management personnel
The Company has entered into a management agreement with Mr D Waddell for his services as Executive Chairman. Under the contract, 
a termination notice period of twelve months is required, which, based on current remuneration rates, would amount to a termination 
payment of $509,300 (2007: $463,000).

The Company has entered into a management agreement with Mr Sibbel for his services as Operations Director. Under the contract, a 
termination notice period of six months is required, which, based on current remuneration rates, would amount to a termination payment of 
$220,000 (2007: $200,000). Mr Sibbel has retired, and stood down as a director on 30 June 2008.

The Company has entered into a management agreement with Mr Cheong for his services as Resident Mine Manager. Under the contract, 
a termination notice period of one month is required, which, based on current remuneration rates, would amount to a termination payment 
of $18,730.

The Company has entered into a management agreement with Mr Smith for his services as Geology Manager. Under the contract, a 
termination notice period of one month is required, which, based on current remuneration rates, would amount to a termination payment of 
$18,621 (2007: $16,668).

The Company has entered into a management agreement with Mr Latto for his services as Chief Financial Officer. Under the contract, a 
termination notice period of three months is required, which, based on current remuneration rates, would amount to a termination payment 
of $52,500.
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21. EMPLOyEE BENEFITS 

Equity Plans

(i) Directors’ options

2008

During the financial year, the following options were issued to Directors

Directors Number of Options 
Granted During 2008

Exercise Price Grant Date Expiry Date

Mr F Sibbel 5,000,000 $0.20 18 July 2007 18 July 2012

Mr F Sibbel 5,000,000 $0.15 18 July 2007 18 July 2012

Mr A Senior 1,750,000 $0.20 23 November 2007 22 November 2012

Mr A Senior 1,750,000 $0.15 23 November 2007 22 November 2012

2007

No options were issued to directors during the financial year.

Summary of directors’ options over unissued shares 

Details of options over unissued shares as at the beginning and ending of the reporting date are set out below.

Number of options at 
30 June 2008

Grant Date Exercise 
date on or 

after

Expiry date Exercise 
price

Number of 
options at 
beginning 

of year

Options 
Granted (i)

Options 
Expired/

Forfeited (ii)

On Issue Vested

27 Nov 2003 27 Nov 2003 27 Nov 2008 $0.20 1,500,000 - (1,500,000) - -

20 Oct 2004 20 Oct 2004 20 Oct 2009 $0.225 33,750,000 - (18,750,000) 15,000,000 15,000,000

18 July 2007 18 July 2007 18 July 2012 $0.20 - 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 -

18 July 2007 18 July 2007 18 July 2012 $0.15 - 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 -

23 Nov 2007 23 Nov 2007 22 Nov 2012 $0.20 - 1,750,000 - 1,750,000 -

23 Nov 2007 23 Nov 2007 22 Nov 2012 $0.15 - 1,750,000 - 1,750,000 -

(i) Valuation of Options 
The options granted as compensation during the year were valued using Black Scholes option valuation model using the following  
parameters.

Options Granted Grant Date Exercise Date Exercise Price Interest Rate Volatility Value of 
Options

5,000,000 18 July 2007 18 July 2007 $0.20 6.26% 71.99% $0.04

5,000,000 18 July 2007 18 July 2007 $0.15 6.26% 71.99% $0.04

1,750,000 23 November 2007 23 November 2007 $0.20 6.33% 69.57% $0.03

1,750,000 23 November 2007 23 November 2007 $0.15 6.33% 69.57% $0.03

(ii) Options Expired 
No options expired during the financial year.

Options Forfeited 
20,250,000 options were forfeited during the financial year.
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21. EMPLOyEE BENEFITS (continued)

(ii) Employee share option plan

The Employee Share Option Plan (“ESOP”) was approved by shareholders at a general meeting of the Company on 18 October 2004.

In consideration of the continued services of the specified employees, the Company granted options to subscribe for one ordinary fully 
paid share in the capital of the Company. The options on issue at the start of the financial year may only be exercised on or after the second 
anniversary of the date of issue of the options. The options granted during the financial year vest after two years.

Summary of movements in the plan for the financial year:

Number of options at 
30 June 2008

Grant Date Exercise 
date on or 

after

Expiry date Exercise 
price

Number of 
options at 
beginning 

of year

Options 
Granted (iii)

Options 
Expired/
Forfeited 

(iv)

On Issue Vested

27 Nov 2003 27 Nov 2003 27 Nov 2008 $0.20 1,500,000 - (1,500,000) - -

20 Oct 2004 20 Oct 2004 20 Oct 2009 $0.225 33,750,000 - (18,750,000) 15,000,000 15,000,000

18 July 2007 18 July 2007 18 July 2012 $0.20 - 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 -

18 July 2007 18 July 2007 18 July 2012 $0.15 - 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 -

23 Nov 2007 23 Nov 2007 22 Nov 2012 $0.20 - 1,750,000 - 1,750,000 -

23 Nov 2007 23 Nov 2007 22 Nov 2012 $0.15 - 1,750,000 - 1,750,000 -

22 Nov 2004 22 Nov 2005 22 Nov 2009 $0.225 550,000 (100,000) 450,000 450,000

1 Dec 2005 1 Dec 2007 22 Nov 2009 $0.18 2,200,000 (950,000) 1,250,000 1,250,000

30 Apr 2007 31 Mar 2009 31 Mar 2012 $0.15 1,750,000 650,000 (500,000) 1,900,000 -

(iii) Valuation of Options 
The options granted as compensation during the year were valued using Black Scholes option valuation model using the following 
parameters.

Options Granted Issue Date Exercise Date Exercise Price Interest Rate Volatility Value of Options

5,000,000 18 July 2007 18 July 2007 $0.20 6.26% 71.99% $0.04

5,000,000 18 July 2007 18 July 2007 $0.15 6.26% 71.99% $0.04

1,750,000 23 November 2007 23 November 2007 $0.20 6.33% 69.57% $0.03

1,750,000 23 November 2007 23 November 2007 $0.15 6.33% 69.57% $0.03

200,000 30 July 2007 30 July 2009 $0.15 6.26% 71.48% $0.06

150,000 1 August 2007 1 August 2009 $0.15 6.26% 71.69% $0.04

300,000 5 October 2007 5 October 2009 $0.15 6.16% 74.22% $0.05

(iv) Options Expired 
No options expired during the financial year. 

Options Forfeited 
21,800,000 options were forfeited during the financial year.

22. KEy MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES

(a) Details of Key Management Personnel

(i) Specified Directors

Denis Waddell (Executive Chairman)  (appointed July 1995)

Alan Senior (Non-Executive Director)  (appointed July 2007)

Seng Hui Lee (Non-Executive Director)  (appointed March 2008)

Gary Comb (Non-Executive Director)  (appointed July 2005, resigned January 2007)

Martin Kavanagh (Non-Executive Director)  (appointed July 1995, resigned July 2007)

Frank Sibbel (Operations Director)  (appointed July 2006, resigned June 2008)

(ii) Specified Executives

Geoff Cheong (Resident Manager)  (appointed March 2008)

Tim Smith (Geology Manager)   (appointed July 2003)

Jon Latto (Chief Financial Officer)  (appointed November 2007)

Michael Casey (Resident Manager)  (appointed August 2006, resigned March 2008)

Rodney Dawkins (Financial Controller)  (appointed December 2006, resigned November 2007)
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22. KEy MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b Remuneration of key management personnel
The key management personnel compensation included in ‘personnel expenses’ (see note 4) is as follows:

Consolidated Company

In AUD 2008 2007 2008 2007
Short-term employee benefits 1,916,052 1,653,883 - -

Post-employment benefits 152,611 128,728 - -

Share-based payments 342,439 37,681 - -
Total 2,411,102 1,820,292 - -

(i) Individual directors and executives compensation disclosures

Information regarding individual director’s and executive’s compensation and some equity instruments disclosures as permitted by 
Corporations Regulations 2M.3.03 and 2M.6.04 is provided in the Remuneration Report section of the Directors’ Report.

Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no director has entered into a material contract with the Company or the Consolidated Entity 
since the end of the previous financial year and there were no material contracts involving directors’ interests existing at year-end.

Shareholdings of directors – number of shares in Tanami Gold 

2008

Ordinary fully paid shares Balance
1 July 2007

Granted as 
Remuneration

On Market
Purchases

Balance
30 June 2008

Directors
D Waddell 9,161,023 - 4,838,977 14,000,000

F Sibbel 200,000 - 400,000 600,000

A Senior - - 100,000 100,000

SH Lee - - - -

Other Key Management Personnel
G Cheong - - - -

T Smith - - - -

J Latto - - - -

M Casey - - - -
Total 9,361,023 - 5,338,977 14,700,000

Options Balance
1 July 2007

Granted as 
Remuneration

Options
Expired

Balance
30 June 2008

Directors
D Waddell 15,000,000 - - 15,000,000

F Sibbel - 10,000,000 - 10,000,000

A Senior - 3,500,000 - 3,500,000

SH Lee - - - -

Other Key Management Personnel
G Cheong 300,000 - -  300,000

T Smith 750,000 - - 750,000

J Latto - 300,000 - 300,000

M Casey 500,000 - -  500,000
Total 16,550,000 13,800,000 - 30,350,000
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22. KEy MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (continued)
2007

Ordinary fully paid shares Balance
1 July 2006

Granted as 
Remuneration

On Market
Purchases

Balance
30 June 2007

Directors
D Waddell 6,045,023 - 3,116,000 9,161,023

G Comb 1,058,299 - 288,000 1,346,299

M Kavanagh 183,750 - 676,000 859,750

F Sibbel - - 200,000 200,000

Other Key Management Personnel
C Mardon - - - -

T Smith - - - -

J Traicos 300,000 - - 300,000

M Casey - - - -

R Dawkins - - - -
Total 7,587,072 - 4,280,000 11,867,072

Contributing shares Balance
1 July 2006

Granted as 
Remuneration

Net Change
Other

Balance
30 June 2007

Directors
D Waddell 8,612,501 - (8,612,501) -

G Comb 8,399,596 - (8,399,596) -

M Kavanagh 3,023,750 - (3,023,750) -

Other Key Management Personnel
C Mardon - - - -

T Smith - - - -

J Traicos - - - -

M Casey - - - -

R Dawkins - - - -
Total 20,035,847 - (20,035,847) -

Options Balance
1 July 2006

Granted as 
Remuneration

Options
Expired

Balance
30 June 2007

Directors
D Waddell 15,000,000 - - 15,000,000

G Comb 16,500,000 - - 16,500,000

M Kavanagh 3,750,000 - - 3,750,000

Other Key Management Personnel
C Mardon 500,000 - (500,000) -

T Smith 500,000 250,000 - 750,000

J Traicos 300,000 200,000 (500,000) -

M Casey - 500,000 - 500,000

R Dawkins - 300,000 - 300,000
Total 36,550,000 1,250,000 (1,000,000) 36,800,000

All equity transactions with directors other than those arising from the exercise of remuneration options have been entered into under terms 
and conditions no more favourable than those the entity would have adopted if dealing at arm’s length.

(c) Other transactions with the Company or its controlled entities
Specified directors hold positions in other entities that resulted in them having control or significant influence over the financial or operating 
policies of those entities.

One of those entities transacted with the Company or its subsidiaries during the financial year. The terms and conditions of those transactions 
were no more favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to unrelated 
entities on an arm’s length basis.
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23. NON-KEy MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURES 

wholly-Owned Group
Details of the Company’s interest in a wholly-owned controlled entity are set out at Note 11. Details of dealings with this entity are set 
out below.

Loans

The loan to the controlled entity is unsecured, interest-free and of no fixed term. The loan is provided primarily to fund exploration 
expenditure by the controlled entity. Accordingly, the ultimate recoupment of the loan is dependent upon successful development and 
commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of respective tenement interests.

Balances with Controlled Entity

The aggregate amount receivable from the wholly-owned controlled entity by the Company at balance date before provision for non-
recovery is $173,914,495 (2007: $127,147,426). Refer Note 9.

24. INTEREST IN JOINT vENTURES 
Current joint venture equities are as follows:

Joint Ventures Managers Interest Principal Activity

Yuendumu Tanami Gold NL Earning 88% (2007: 88%) Gold Exploration

25. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Consolidated Entity operates predominantly in the gold exploration and gold mining industry in the Tanami region of central Australia.

26. LOSS PER ShARE 

2008 2007
Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in the calculation of basic earnings per share 1,039,051,298 640,208,241

Diluted earnings per share must be calculated where potential ordinary shares on issue are dilutive. As the potential ordinary shares on 
issue would decrease the loss per share in the current year, they are not considered dilutive, and not shown. The number of potential 
ordinary shares is set out in Note 17.
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27. NOTES TO ThE STATEMENT OF CASh FLOwS

Consolidated Company

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the statements of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and at bank and short term deposits at call, net of outstanding bank 
overdrafts. Cash as at the end of the financial year as shown in the statements of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the statements of 
financial position as follows:

Cash assets 2,668,945 10,176,576 2,526,375 10,043,342

(b) Reconciliation of net cash flow from operating activities to net loss 
Net loss (32,585,921) (56,309,031) (32,585,921) (56,309,031)

Add/(less) non-cash items:

 Exploration expenditure written off 2,742,607 3,803,794 - -

 Provision for non-recovery of loan - - 33,780,856 60,129,299

 Depreciation 1,508,395 723,545 - -

 Impairment of Coyote Gold Project mine related assets 20,383,919 26,643,764 - -

 Mine development written off - 923,585 - -

 Unwinding of interest rate on provision for rehabilitation 76,300 78,258 - -

 Other expenditure written off - 681,818 - -

 Share based payments 219,590 27,933 219,590 27,933

 Non cash movement in debtors (group tax entry) (341,976) - (341,976) -

 Bad debts written off - - 12,465 -

Add/(less) items classified as investing/financing activities:

 Gain on disposal of fixed assets (87,010) (960,782) - -

 Gain on disposal of investments - (3,059,222) - (3,059,222)

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities before changes 
in assets and liabilities (8,084,096) (27,446,338) 1,085,014 788,979

Changes in assets and liabilities during the financial year:

Increase in capitalised exploration expenditure (3,236,186) (883,738) - -

Decrease in capitalised development expenditure (10,600,258) 1,517,100 - -

(Increase) / Decrease in receivables (785,522) 551,398 - (515,600)

(Increase) / Decrease in inventories (5,989,201) 53,396 - -

Increase in prepayments (46,322) (84,283) - -

Increase in provisions 804,021 144,941 - -

(Decrease) / Increase in payables 2,750,651 (8,647,186) - -
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (25,186,913) (34,794,710) 1,085,014 273,379

NOTES TO ThE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008



58 TANAMI GOLD NL ANNUAL REPORT 2008

28. EvENTS SUBSEqUENT TO BALANCE DATE 
Appointment of Managing Director/CEO •	

On 22 September 2008, the Company announced the appointment of Mr Graeme Sloan as Managing Director/CEO of the Company

Fully Underwritten Renounceable Entitlements Issue•	

On 22 September 2008, the Company announced a fully underwritten, pro-rata renounceable entitlements issue of 2,358,926,706 shares 
on the basis of two (2) shares for every one (1) share held at an issue price of 0.5 cents per share to raise $11.01 million net of issue costs.

Loan from AP Finance Ltd •	

On 1 September 2008 the Company entered into a loan agreement with AP Finance Limited under which AP Finance Limited has agreed 
to lend the Company up to HK$14.5 million (approximately A$2.15 million) at an interest rate of 15% per annum to be repaid on or before 
30 September 2009. The Company must repay the Loan in full by 30 September 2009 or at any time within 60 days of receipt of a notice of 
repayment from AP Finance Limited.

On 12 September 2008, the Company entered into a loan agreement with AP Finance Limited under which AP Finance Limited has agreed 
to lend the Company up to HK$35 million (approximately A$5.59 million) at an interest rate of 15% per annum to be repaid on or before 30 
September 2009. The Company must repay the Loan in full by 30 September 2009 or at any time within 60 days of receipt of a notice of 
repayment from AP Finance Limited.

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

Overview
This note presents information about the Company’s and Group’s exposure to credit, liquidity and market risks, their objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital.

The Company and the Group does not use any form of derivatives as it is not at a level of exposure that requires the use of derivatives to 
hedge its exposure. Exposure limits are reviewed by management on a continuous basis. The group does not enter into or trade financial 
instruments, including derivates financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. Management 
monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the group through regular reviews of the risks. 

1. Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from the customers and investment securities. For the company it arises 
from receivables due from subsidiaries. 

Presently, the Group undertakes exploration and evaluation activities exclusively in Australia. At the balance sheet date there were no 
significant concentrations of credit risk.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in liquid securities and only with counterparties that have an acceptable credit rating.

Other receivables

The Group’s revenue is derived (apart from immaterial recharges) from gold sales. Management does not expect any counterparty to a gold 
sale to fail to meet its obligations.

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk at the reporting date was: 

Consolidated Carrying Amount

Note 2008 2007
Cash and cash equivalents 8 2,668,944 10,176,576 

Other receivables 9 4,564,469  2,514,751

The Group is not exposed to credit risk in relation to the cash and cash equivalents or other receivables in the preceding table because:

The Group only invests in liquid securities and only with counterparties that have an acceptable credit risk rating, and as a result, •	
Management consider that there is minimal credit risk attached to the Group’s cash and cash equivalents balances;

The Group’s other receivables predominantly relate to amounts payable from Government institutions which management consider •	
is risk free. Of the $4,564,469 in other receivables, $1.187,694 relates to GST receivable, $2,236,250 relates to environmental 
performance bonds lodged with the Northern Territory Department of Industry and Resources and the Western Australian Minister for 
State Development, $103,690 relates to fuel rebates and $341,976 relates to an income tax receivable associated with research and 
development expenditure; and

Of the remaining $694,859 of the Group’s other receivables $235,224 relates to recharges to contractors engaged at the Coyote Gold •	
Project, $152,431 relates to insurance prepayments, $114,161 relates to a rental bond for the corporate office, and the balance of 
$193,043 relates to miscellaneous receivables. These recharges, prepayments and rental bonds are on commercial terms, and as a result, 
Management consider that there is minimal risk associated with these amounts.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Company Carrying Amount

Note 2008 2007
Cash and cash equivalents 8 2,526,375 10,043,342

Other receivables 9 24,088,259 11,630,112

Investment in subsidiaries 11  3,013,232  3,013,232

The Company is not exposed to credit risk in relation to the cash and cash equivalents or other receivables in the preceding table because:

The Company only invests in liquid securities and only with counterparties that have an acceptable credit risk rating, and as a result, •	
Management consider that there is minimal credit risk attached to the Group’s cash and cash equivalents balances;

The Company’s other receivables is a loan to the controlled entity. The loan is unsecured, interest free and repayable at call, but the •	
Company does not intend to recall the loan over the next 12 months. The loan is used to fund exploration and development expenditure 
by the controlled entity. Accordingly, the ultimate recoupment of the loan and the investment in the controlled entity (refer Note 11) is 
dependant upon successful development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas of interest; and

The $3,013,232 investment in subsidiaries relates to shares held in Tanami Exploration NL.•	

Impairment losses

None of the Group’s other receivables are past due (2007: nil).

Guarantees

Group policy is to provide financial guarantees only to wholly-owned subsidiaries.

2. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach to managing 
liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows. 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the impact of netting 
agreements:

Consolidated 30 June 2008

Carrying 
amount

Contractual
Cash flows

6 months or 
less

6-12 m 1-2 yrs 2-5 yrs More than 
5 years

Finance lease liabilities 216,592 (228,106) (91,242) (91,242) (45,622) - -

Trade and other payables 8,899,764 (8,899,764) (8,899,764) - - - -

9,116,356 (9,127,870) (8,991,006) (91,242) (45,622) - -

Consolidated 30 June 2007

Carrying 
amount

Contractual
Cash flows

6 months or 
less

6-12 m 1-2 yrs 2-5 yrs More than 
5 years

Finance lease liabilities 375,237 (410,591) (91,242) (91,242) (228,107) - -

Trade and other payables 6,020,969 (6,020,969) (6,020,969) - - - -

6,396,206 (6,431,560) (6,112,211) (91,242) (228,107) - -
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3. Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the Group’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. 

4. Currency risk
The Group is not exposed to currency risk and at balance date the Group and the Company holds no financial assets or liabilities which are 
exposed to foreign currency risk.

5. Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk (primarily on its cash and cash equivalents), which is the risk that a financial instrument’s value 
will fluctuate as a result of changes in the market interest rate on interest-bearing financial instruments. The Group does not use derivates 
to mitigate these exposures.

Profile

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s and the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

Consolidated Carrying Amount Company Carrying Amount

2008 2007 2008 2007
Fixed rate instruments

Finance lease liability 216,592 375,237 - -

216,592 375,237 - -

Consolidated Carrying Amount Company Carrying Amount

2008 2007 2008 2007
Variable rate instruments

Cash and cash equivalents 2,668,944 10,176,576 2,526,375 10,043,342

2,668,944 10,176,576 2,526,375 10,043,342

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore a change in interest 
rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss. 

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates would have increased or decreased the Group’s equity by $26,684 (2007: $101,765) and the 
Company’s equity by $26,684 (2007: $101,765)

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss by the 
amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2007.

30 June 2008 Profit or loss Equity

100bp 
increase

100bp 
decrease

100bp 
increase

100bp 
decrease

Interest income on cash balance $26,684 ($26,684) $26,684 ($26,684) 

Cash flow sensitivity (net) $26,684 ($26,684) $26,684 ($26,684)

30 June 2007 Profit or loss Equity

100bp 
increase

100bp 
decrease

100bp 
increase

100bp 
decrease

Interest income on cash balance $101,765 ($101,765) $101,765 ($101,765) 

Cash flow sensitivity (net) $101,765 ($101,765) $101,765 ($101,765)
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

6. Fair values

Fair values versus carrying amounts

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet, are as follows:

Consolidated 30 June 2008 30 June 2007

Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value
Cash and cash equivalents 2,668,944 2,668,944 10,176,576 10,176,576 

Other receivables 4,564,469 4,564,469 2,514,751 2,514,751 

Trade and other payables 8,899,764 8,899,764 6,020,969 6,020,969

Finance lease liabilities 216,592 213,760 375,237 362,113

Interest rates used for determining fair value

The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, where applicable, are based on the government yield curve at the reporting date 
and were as follows:

2008 2007

Finance lease liability 6.71% 6.45%

7. Commodity Price Risk
Tanami Gold NL manages its exposure to commodity price risk by:

Actively monitoring gold prices on a daily basis; and•	

Actively engaging with industry experts to assess and review forecast gold price movements, which is taken into consideration when •	
decisions are made to sell gold produced.

8. Capital Management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so as to maintain a 
strong capital base sufficient to maintain future exploration and development of its projects. In order to maintain or adjust the capital 
structure, the Group may return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. The Group’s focus has been to raise 
sufficient funds through equity to fund development, exploration and evaluation activities. 

As stated at note 1(b) the Group has entered into loan agreements with AP Finance Limited totalling $7.74 million, and the Group will 
continue to monitor capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. 

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year. Risk management policies and procedures are 
established with regular monitoring and reporting.

The Group encourages employees to be shareholders through the Employee Performance Rights Plan, the Long Term Incentives Plan and 
the Executives Share Option Plan.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
FOR ThE yEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

In the opinion of the directors of Tanami Gold NL (“the Company”):

1. The financial statements and notes (including the remuneration disclosures that are contained in sections 13.1, 13.2, 13.3 and 13.4 
of the Remuneration Report in the Directors’ Report), set out on pages 18 to 61, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including:

(a) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and the Consolidated Entity as at 30 June 2008 and their 
performance, as represented by the results of their operations and their cash flows, for the financial year ended on that date; and

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

2. The financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 1.

3. The remuneration disclosures that are contained in sections 13.1, 13.2, 13.3 and 13.4 of the Remuneration report in the Directors’ report 
comply with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures.

4. There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

5. The directors have been given the declaration required by Section 295A of Corporations Act 2001 from the Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2008.

Dated at West Perth this 30th day of September 2008.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

D P Waddell 
Executive Chairman
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ShAREhOLDER INFORMATION

Distribution of Equity Securities as at 30 September 2008:

Number of Securities Held Number of Holders

1 - 1,000 112

1,001 - 5,000 708

5,001 - 10,000 724

10,001 - 100,000 2,242

100,001 and over 882

Total number of holders 4,668

holders of less than a marketable parcel as at 30 September 2008:
Ordinary Shares  3,225 (56,267,687 shares)

Substantial Shareholders as at 30 September 2008:

Allied Properties Resources Limited – 190,000,000 Ordinary Shares

Options
Options on issue as at 30 September 2008:

Expiry Date Type Exercise Price 2008
Number

Number of 
Holders

20 October 2009 Unquoted $0.225  15,000,000 1

22 November 2009 Unquoted $0.225  450,000 4

22 November 2009 Unquoted $0.18  1,250,000 9

31 March 2012 Unquoted $0.15  1,900,000 13

18 July 2012 Unquoted $0.15  5,000,000 1

18 July 2012 Unquoted $0.15  5,000,000 1

22 November 2012 Unquoted $0.20  1,750,000 1

22 November 2012 Unquoted $0.15  1,750,000 1
 32,100,000 31

voting Rights
On a show of hands, every holder of ordinary shares present or by proxy shall have one vote. Upon a poll, each share shall have one vote.

On-Market Buy Back
There is no current on-market buy back.

Top 20 Shareholders - Ordinary Fully Paid 20 Cent Shares

Holder Units Held % of Units Issued

1 Allied Properties Resources Limited 150,000,000 12.72%

2 Merrill Lynch Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 75,115,334 6.37%

3 HSBC Custody Nominees Australia Limited 70,770,500 6.00%

4 Eurogold Limited 40,000,000 3.39%

5 HSBC Custody Nominees Australia Limited 28,733,223 2.44%

6 National Nominees Limited 26,985,000 2.29%

7 Sun Hung Kai Investment Services Ltd (Katong Assets) 13,966,450 1.18%

8 Apache Investments Limited (Number 2 Account) 13,771,800 1.17%

9 ANZ Nominees Limited (Cash Income Account) 12,235,967 1.04%

10 Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd 10,767,445 0.91%

11 Yandal Investments Pty Ltd 10,000,000 0.85%

12 Jemaya Pty Ltd (JH Featherby Super Fund Account) 9,080,424 0.77%

13 Jemaya Pty Ltd (Featherby Family Account) 9,000,000 0.76%

14 Hendricus P L (Perth Select Seafood) 8,500,000 0.72%

15 Ravina Qld Pty Ltd 8,222,994 0.70%

16 Wall Stephanie 8,090,000 0.69%

17 Tarney Holdings Pty Ltd 7,801,023 0.66%

18 Invesco Nominees Pty Ltd 7,575,296 0.64%

19 Chanrich Properties Pty Ltd 7,483,999 0.63%

20 Perth Select Seafoods Pty Ltd 7,000,000 0.59%
525,099,455 44.52%
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SChEDULE OF MINERAL TENEMENTS

wESTERN AUSTRALIA Granted From Expiry Date Blocks

wA (TGNL 100%)

E80/1481 Balwina 05/10/93 04/10/08 24

E80/1483 Bold Hill 16/04/92 15/04/09 25

E80/1677 Slatey Creek 15/03/94 14/03/08* 32

E80/1679 Southside 15/03/94 14/03/08* 18

E80/1737 Camel Hump 22/03/94 21/03/08* 28

E80/1905 ¹ Bald Hill Central 06/09/94 05/09/08* 38

E80/2036 ¹ Bald Hill North 17/02/95 16/02/08* 8

E80/2091 ¹ Watts Rise East 31/10/95 30/10/08 16

E80/2133 Killi Killi Hills 11/08/04 10/08/09 12

E80/2509 Watts Rise South 19/10/00 18/10/08 24

E80/2515 Buggsy 19/10/00 18/10/08 31

E80/3238 Afghan 29/12/04 28/12/09 8

E80/3378 Tent Hill East 20/02/06 19/02/11 10

E80/3388 Olive 15/05/06 14/05/11 70

E80/3389 Popeye 15/05/06 14/05/11 70

E80/3665 Border 19/10/07 18/10/12 28

E80/3844 Lewis East 08/04/08 07/04/13 3

E80/3845 Lewis West 08/04/08 07/04/13 3

E80/3846 Camel 08/04/08 07/04/13 2

E80/3847 Hutch’s Find 08/04/08 07/04/13 4

E(A)80/4006 Hermes Application 90

M80/559 Coyote 1 27/09/05 26/09/26 997 hectares

M80/560 Coyote 2 27/09/05 26/09/26 998 hectares

M80/561 Coyote 3 27/09/05 26/09/26 988 hectares

M80/562 ¹ Bald Hill 1 02/12/05 01/12/26 991 hectares

M80/563 ¹ Bald Hill 2 02/12/05 01/12/26 978 hectares

M80/564 ¹ Bald Hill 3 02/12/05 01/12/26 990 hectares

P80/1561 Balwina West 23/08/07 22/08/11 166 hectares

P80/1562 Balwina East 23/08/07 22/08/11 166 hectares

P80/1649 Afghan Gap 24/06/08 23/06/12 189 hectares

P(A)80/1665 Yosemite Gap Application 23 hectares

P(A)80/1674 Southside Gap 1 Application 23 hectares

P(A)80/1675 Southside Gap 2 Application 23 hectares

P(A)80/1676 Southside Gap 3 Application 48 hectares

P(A)80/1677 Southside Gap 4 Application 103 hectares

P(A)80/1678 Slatey Creek Gap 1 Application 110 hectares

P(A)80/1679 Slatey Creek Gap 2 Application 28 hectares

P(A)80/1692 Bald Hill Gap 1 Application 97 hectares

P(A)80/1693 Bald Hill Gap 2 Application 23 hectares

wESTERN AUSTRALIAN TOTAL 1,779 km²

* Application for Extension of term lodged. 
¹ Subject to royalty/claw back agreement with Barrick Gold of Australia Ltd.
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NORTHERN TERRITORY Granted From Expiry Date Blocks

EASTERN TANAMI PROJECTS (TGNL 100%)
EL5888 Supplejack 22/08/02 21/08/08* 33

EL5889 Birrindudu 22/08/02 21/08/08* 27

EL8809 North Breaden 17/10/02 16/10/08* 15

EL10139 SW Pargee 17/10/02 16/10/08* 27

EL10307 Blip 24/05/01 23/05/09 1

EL10308 Calypso 24/05/01 23/05/09 12

EL22846 Stake Range West 08/08/01 07/08/09 4

EL22965 Bluebush 13/02/03 12/02/09 25

EL23472 Birrindudu Two 28/01/03 27/01/09 31

EL(A)8762 Winnecke Application 100

EL(A)8848 Lake Talbot Application 58

EL(A)23523 Supplejack North Application 120

EL(A)25194 Mongrel Fault Application 34

EL(A)25844 Century Gap Application 16

EL(A)26590 Eastern Creek Application 9

EL(A)26591 Phillip Island Application 10

EL(A)26592 Donington Application 4

EL(A)26593 Suzuka Application 58

EL(A)26608 Pargee Gap Application 1

EL(A)26609 San Marino Application 5

EL(A)26610 Highway Application 1

EL(A)26613 Monza Application 298

EL(A)26615 Le Mans Application 30

EL(A)26616 Century Bore Application 78

EL(A)26618 Mt Panorama Application 16

EL(A)26619 Assen Application 12

EL(A)26620 Indy Application 34

EL(A)26621 Brands Hatch Application 10

EL(A)26622 Silverstone Application 6

EL(A)26623 Ware Range Application 25

EL(A)26673 Monaco Application 6

NORTH EASTERN TANAMI PROJECT (TGNL 100%)
EL8845 Lake Buck 23/03/01 22/03/09 5

EL9474 Farrands Hill 23/03/01 22/03/09 5

EL(A)25845 Ptilotus  Application 118

SOUTHERN TANAMI PROJECT (TGNL 100%)
EL8824 Officer Hill 23/03/01 22/03/09 28

EL9295 Mongrel Downs 23/03/01 22/03/09 5

EL9616 Tin Can 23/03/01 22/03/09 3

EL(A)25191 Lake Ruth Application 83

EL(A)25192 Tanami Downs Application 110

HIGHLAND ROCKS PROJECT (TGNL 100%)
EL(A)10306 Russet SW Application 109

SEL(A)22156 Nardudi 2 Application 475

EL(A)23898 Russet Ridge Application 125

EL(A)24473 Russet Ridge 2 Application 60
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NORTHERN TERRITORY Granted From Expiry Date Blocks

LAKE MACKAY (TGNL 100%)
EL(A)8695 Sandford Cliffs Application 433

EL8696 Redvers 22/08/02 21/08/10 76

EL8697 Redvers North 22/08/02 21/08/10 28

EL(A)9343 Egerton Application 42

EL9442 Superior 22/08/02 21/08/10 72

EL9449 Victoria 22/08/02 21/08/10 48

EL(A)10305 McEwin Hills Application 26

EL(A)25866 Placid Application 172

EL(A)24299 St Claire Application 64

EL(A)24490 Placid 2 Application 220

EL(A)24492 Egerton 2 Application 249

EL(A)24567 Egerton South Application 45

EL(A)24858 Erie Application 85

EL(A)24949 Huron Application 448

EL(A)25630 Caspian Application 373

EL(A)25632 Jordan Application 264

YUENDUMU JOINT VENTURE (TGNL 88%)
EL84341 Nicker 18/04/00 17/04/10 19

MT LIEBIG PROJECT (TGNL 100%)
EL(A)24915 Dufaur Application 164

wALKELEY PROJECT (TGNL 100%)
EL(A)22554 Stud Holme Application 500

EL(A)22555 Walkeley Application 500

EL(A)23926 Ngadiri Application 487

EL(A)23927 Yinabalbu Application 486

REYNOLDS RANGE PROJECT (TGNL 100%)
EL23888 2 Stafford 12/08/04 11/08/10 56

LANDER JOINT VENTURE (TGNL 60%)
EL23655 3 Lander 12/06/03 11/06/09 198

HUCKITTA JOINT VENTURE (TGNL 100%)
EL22924 4 Delny 23/12/02 22/12/08 74

EL24454 4 Pulpit 15/06/05 14/06/11 232

wINNECKE PROJECT (TGNL 5%)
EL9529 5 Rankin 14/05/02 13/05/10 16

EL22759 5 Gecko 02/04/02 01/04/10 5
NORTHERN TERRITORY TOTAL 24,227 km²

TOTAL HELD 26,006 km²

* Application for Extension of term lodged.

DEEP YELLOw AGREEMENT (DYL 100%) 6 Granted From Expiry Date Blocks

EL(A)25097 Billabong North Application 72

EL25101 Mordor West 21/11/06 59

EL(A)25146 Mt Morris West Application 218

EL(A)25147 Mt Morris Application 499

EL(A)25155 Mongrel Downs Application 111

EL(A)25156 Abbotts Bore Application 35

EL(A)25177 Fiddlers Lake Application 209

EL(A)25212 Mt Davidson Application 96
1 Yuendumu Joint Venture between Tanami Gold NL and Yuendumu Mining Company NL. Tanami has 88% interest registered and is continuing to earn additional 
interest.
2 Stafford Option Deed between Tanami Exploration NL and Newmont Gold Exploration Pty Ltd. Tenement is held by Tanami Exploration NL 100%. Newmont 
holds right to buy back 75% interest.
3 Lander Farm-in and Joint Venture between Select Resources Limited and Tanami Gold NL. Tanami has 60% interest and is earning additional 20% 
4 Joint Venture between Tanami Exploration NL and Mithril Resources Limited. Mithril is earning 60% interest.
5 Rankin-Gecko Agreement between Tanami Exploration NL (5% interest) and Maximus Resources Ltd (95% interest). 
6 Heads of Agreement between Tanami Gold NL, Tanami Exploration NL and Deep Yellow Limited. Tanami has rights to gold.
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